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14 September 2016

The Honourable Curtis Pitt MP      The Honourable Mark Bailey MP
Treasurer        Minister for Main Roads, Road Safety and Ports
Minister for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Partnerships  Minister for Energy, Biofuels and Water Supply
Minister for Sport       Level 15, Capital Hill, 85 George Street 
Level 9, Executive Building, 100 George Street   BRISBANE QLD 4000     
BRISBANE QLD 4000        
    
    
Dear Ministers

I am pleased to present the Annual Report 2015–16 and financial statements for the Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority, 
trading as Seqwater. 

The report details the non-financial and financial performance of Seqwater from 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016.

I certify that this Annual Report complies with: 

• the prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial Performance Management Standard 
2009, and 

• the detailed requirements contained in the Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies. 

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements with page references is included in this report. 

Yours sincerely

Mr Dan Hunt

Chairman
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About this report

This Annual Report records our achievements in delivering 
a safe, secure and cost-effective water supply to the people 
of South East Queensland in 2015–16. Our performance is 
measured against the objectives and targets in our Operational 
Plan 2015–16 and the Statement of Obligations set by our 
responsible Ministers. The report also describes our financial 
position for the year.

Our report theme, Serving our communities, reflects our efforts 
this year to achieve community benefits in everything we do 
and help our communities understand the bulk water supply 
system from catchment to tap, as well as the assets, issues 
and events that influence water quality, demand, supply and 
access.

This report is a key accountability document and the principal 
way in which we report on our activities to Parliament and the 
South East Queensland (SEQ) community. The report has been 
produced in accordance with the standards detailed in the 
following Queensland legislation and Government guidelines:

• Financial Accountability Act 2009

• Financial Performance Management Standard 2009

• South East Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007

• Annual report requirements for Queensland Government 
agencies – requirements for the 2015–16 reporting period.

The report is available on our website. A printed copy of the 
report is available on request.

Translation and interpreting assistance
Seqwater is committed to providing 
accessible services to Queenslanders 
from all culturally and linguistically 
diverse backgrounds. If you have difficulty 
understanding this Annual Report please 
contact us and we will arrange an 
interpreter to share the report with you. 

Your feedback is welcome
We invite your feedback on our report. Please contact our 
Corporate and Community Relations team,  
telephone 1800 771 497, fax 3229 7926,  
email communications@seqwater.com.au or complete our 
survey at seqwater.com.au

Seqwater Annual Report 2015–16

ISSN: 1837-4549

© Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 2016.

On the cover 

Pictured on the cover are Brett, Senior Dam Operator and Brodie, our 
Cultural Heritage Officer. They are pictured at Enoggera Dam, which 
celebrates its 150th anniversary this year. Every day, they are part of 
the team that serves our communities. Brett makes sure our dams are 
operating as they should to provide a safe and secure water supply. Brodie 
protects and preserves the cultural heritage found within our sites.
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Who we are and what we do

Seqwater is the Queensland Government statutory authority 
responsible for producing bulk drinking water for 3.1 million 
people across South East Queensland. We provide irrigation 
water to 1,200 rural customers in seven water supply schemes, 
as well as essential flood mitigation services.

Our operations extend from the New South Wales border to 
the base of the Toowoomba ranges and north to Gympie. This 
makes us one of Australia’s largest water businesses, with 
the most geographically spread and diverse asset base of any 
capital city water authority.

On behalf of our communities, we manage and maintain 
$12 billion of water supply assets, including dams, weirs, 
conventional water treatment plants, reservoirs, pumps and 
pipelines, as well as climate resilient water sources, such as 
the Gold Coast Desalination Plant and the Western Corridor 
Recycled Water Scheme.

During 2015–16, more than 2.6 million people visited our 
recreation areas. We are one of the few bulk water providers in 
Australia that manage open catchments, allowing the public to 
enjoy recreational activities on and around the dams and lakes 
that supply our drinking water. Our recreation areas provide 
more than 50% of the green space in South East Queensland, 
outside of national parks. We also manage parts of the natural 
catchments of the region’s water supply sources. 

We strive to balance catchment health with the quality of the 
region’s drinking water while providing community access to a 
range of water-based and onshore activities at our dams, lakes 
and parks.

Seqwater was formed on 1 January 2013 through a merger 
of three State-owned water businesses, the SEQ Water Grid 
Manager, LinkWater and the former Seqwater, in accordance 
with the South East Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 
2007 as amended by the South East Queensland Water 
(Restructuring) and Other Legislation Amendment Regulation 
(No.1) 2012.

At the same time, Seqwater assumed some responsibilities 
undertaken by the former Queensland Water Commission, 
including long term urban water planning. On 6 July 2015, we 
published our Water Security Program–a 30-year plan for SEQ’s 
drinking water supply.
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Our role in the water sector
Water is essential for life. At Seqwater, it’s our job to produce 
water for communities across South East Queensland. We live 
and work in the communities we serve, and our team is proud 
to deliver Water for life. 

As the region’s bulk water supply authority, our role is to 
source, store and supply water from catchments and other 
sources.

We work in partnership with Unitywater, Queensland Urban 
Utilities, and the water businesses of the Redland, Logan and 
City of Gold Coast councils, to deliver value for customers. 

Source

Rain that falls in the catchments is our primary source of 
drinking water. The health of the catchments directly impacts 
the treatment required to supply safe drinking water to our 
communities. 

We work to meet the needs of the communities who live, work 
and play in the water source catchments while protecting the 
quality of the region’s bulk drinking water supply.

Healthy catchments are essential for a productive and liveable 
South East Queensland. We aim to be a good neighbour and 
we partner with individuals, community groups and other 
organisations to protect our source water and catchments. 

Store

On behalf of our community, Seqwater manages 26 dams,  
51 weirs and 2 bore fields that supply as much as 90% of the 
region’s drinking water. The remaining 10% is supplied from 
small dams, bores and rainwater tanks on private property.

Our dams also help mitigate floods. 

Three of our dams—Wivenhoe, Somerset and North Pine—
have gates which allow us to control the flow of water through 
the dam. Dams can’t store all the water that flows into them. 

Flood mitigation occurs when the floodwater released through 
the gates is less than the rate flowing into the dam from 
rainfall and catchment run-off. Wivenhoe and Somerset can 
temporarily store floodwater, causing the water level in the 
dam to rise above the normal drinking water supply level. This 
water must be released to bring the dam back to its drinking 
water supply level again.

Our other 23 dams are un-gated. These dams have a spillway 
that is lower than the top of the dam embankment so water 
can safely flow out of the dam and downstream. We cannot 
control water flows through our un-gated dams.

Supply

Our source water must be treated to make it safe to drink. We 
have 37 conventional water treatment plants (WTP), the  
Gold Coast Desalination Plant and the Western Corridor 
Recycled Water Scheme (WCRWS) to treat water. To move 
water around and supply it to our water service provider 
partners, we maintain 646 kilometres of trunk mains, including 
223 kilometres of WCRWS pipelines and 183 kilometres of raw 
water pipelines. There are also 22 bulk water pump stations 
and 17 bulk water reservoirs in our network.

Our dams, water treatment plants, reservoirs and pipelines 
make up the SEQ Water Grid. The grid allows us to move water 
to where it is needed in the region—from Noosa in the north to 
Coolangatta in the south.

About 53,000 people living in smaller communities are supplied 
by 16 off-grid water treatment plants with local water supplies. 
We also supply untreated water to rural irrigation customers. 
This water is used to support a wide variety of agriculture, such 
as orchards, vegetable and fodder crops, dairying and grazing.

Due to our current high level of water security, the WCRWS 
has been placed in care and maintenance mode for future use 
if required.
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IRRIGATION

produced 

291,354 ML

we supplied 37, 231 ML 
of untreated water to  

1,200 irrigators

produced 

1,258 ML 

Water supply 2015–16
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Our vision
Healthy communities, prosperous region.

Our purpose
Partnering to deliver safe, secure and cost-effective water and 
catchment services to our customers and communities.

Our values
• We work safe

• We work together

• We continually improve

• We deliver

• We each make a difference.

Our obligations
The Queensland Government has set performance standards for 
our business through a Statement of Obligations. This provides 
a comprehensive framework for performance, requiring us to:

• focus on core business (safe, secure, resilient and reliable 
water supplies)

• be an effective and efficient business

• communicate, consult and collaborate

• achieve long term business sustainability

• be innovative

• support government objectives and directions.

Letter of strategic expectations 
The responsible Ministers also set out their requirements of 
Seqwater for the year in a letter of strategic expectations.

For 2015–16 these included: 

• continuing to identify operational efficiencies

• identifying and acting on opportunities to create jobs and 
investment

• maintaining workforce efficiency and capability

• finalising the Water Security Program, including 
consultation with customers and communities

• continuing to cooperate with the Inspector-General 
Emergency Management’s Review of Seqwater and 
SunWater Warnings Communications.

Our contribution to regional prosperity
Water is fundamental to regional prosperity. By providing water 
and catchment services, we fuel the economy and enhance 
the lives and livelihoods of the people living and working 
in the region. We work with our customers, communities, 
governments and industry to understand their needs and to 
assist us in meeting those needs.

The affordability of water is a key issue for our customers. We 
continue to reduce our costs by:

• maximising the productivity of our existing water supply 
infrastructure

• taking a whole of water cycle approach

• working with our industry partners to meet customer needs 
in the most cost-effective way.

We support the ongoing growth and prosperity of our region 
by planning for the future. We develop long term water supply 
plans that seek to meet community expectations and needs in 
the most efficient way possible.

Our strategic direction 
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Critical issues for regional water supply
The issues most critical to our long term business performance 
include:

• affordable water for our customers

• attraction and retention of a skilled and committed 
workforce

• a customer focused workforce that understands and meets 
customer expectations

• planning and operating water supply assets in a variable 
climate and during extreme weather events

• supply of quality water

• collaborative whole of water cycle management

• partnering to improve catchment health

• influencing the long term regional planning agenda.
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Foreword from our Chairman and CEO

Seqwater entered its third year of operations with a renewed 
focus on service delivery to the communities of South East 
Queensland.

Our key marker of success is the ongoing, uninterrupted 
provision of bulk drinking water to the communities we serve. 
Over the past year, we delivered almost 300,000 megalitres of 
drinking water to 3.1 million South East Queenslanders, at all 
times meeting the Australian Drinking Water Guidelines.

Driving efficiencies across our business remained a priority. 
Over 2015–16, operating costs were further reduced by almost 
$10 million from a budget of $237.1 million to an actual cost 
of $228.4 million. These cost savings have continued to put 
downward pressure on the cost of bulk drinking water for 
households and businesses across South East Queensland.

As a result of the ongoing savings, the common bulk water 
price across our region is on target to be 12 percent less than 
previously forecast by 2017–18. This will provide an ongoing 
cost of living benefit for South East Queenslanders and is a 
genuine source of pride and achievement for our people. 

Efficient and effective capital delivery continued to be a focus. 
We delivered infrastructure improvements to increase the 
reliability and resilience of the South East Queensland Water 
Grid. A number of our smaller, regional water supply assets 
were also improved. We are particularly pleased to have 
achieved a $12 million reduction in our capital spend against 
budget.

These savings, combined with reductions in our operating 
costs, have delivered real and ongoing benefits to the 
communities we serve.

Planning for the future

We have continued to plan for our region’s future water needs, 
from water supply to flood mitigation and dam safety. The 
past decade, during which we experienced both the worst 
drought and the worst flood in a century, has been a sharp 
reminder that we live in a climate of extremes and need to plan 
accordingly. 

We are developing version 2 of South East Queensland’s  
30-year water supply plan. 

Our initial assessments have shown that as a result of the 
infrastructure investment during the Millennium drought 
(including the construction of Australia’s first water grid), and 
ongoing lower than expected water use, a new water source is 
unlikely to be required before 2030. This means no decision on 
what the new source or sources need to be is required for at 
least the next decade.

The interconnected nature of the South East Queensland Water 
Grid and the availability of the climate resilient Gold Coast 
Desalination Plant and the WCRWS in times of drought means 
our region is well placed to take the required time to get the 
long term planning right.

In the meantime, we have identified opportunities to optimise 
our existing water infrastructure, which will greatly assist in 
delaying future investment.

The community’s current water use represents a welcomed 
planning challenge. Before the drought, as a region we were 
consuming 300 litres per person per day. The waterwise 
behaviours we adopted during the drought have been 
sustained, and today average consumption ranges between 
160 and 170 litres per person per day. We expect some slight 
bounce back in consumption over time and our future planning 
is based on an average of 185 litres per person per day. 

Developing a new water supply source is an inter-generational 
investment for our communities. Ensuring we balance the 
future needs of our region while not over-investing is central to 
our planning.

We are engaging with our communities on a level not 
previously contemplated by the water sector in South East 
Queensland. Version 1 of our long term plan was released in 
July 2015. In the past 12 months, more than 3,000 people have 
been involved in our Water for life engagement program. 

The program included community forums, neighbourhood 
sessions, community displays and online surveys. Specifically, 
we sought feedback on people’s water values and their vision 
for a highly liveable South East Queensland. Community 
feedback focused on the importance of providing safe, quality 
water while ensuring a resilient supply. 



Seqwater | Annual Report 2015–16 10

Education, including the need to build greater public 
understanding about how water works and providing people 
with ongoing opportunities to have their say, was also viewed 
as important in developing the plan. 

Version 2, to be released March 2017, will reflect community 
views and values to date. We will continue to educate and 
engage South East Queenslanders in the years ahead.

Significant planning was undertaken on our Dam Improvement 
Program, which aims to keep our dams operating safely and 
efficiently into the future given new knowledge about extreme 
weather events and dam design. Six dams have been identified 
for possible upgrades, including Lake Macdonald (Noosa), 
Ewen Maddock Dam and Wappa Dam (Sunshine Coast),  
Leslie Harrison (Capalaba), Lake Kurwongbah (Brisbane North) 
and Somerset Dam (Somerset). Our goal is to deliver a staged 
capital program that safeguards the ongoing operation of our 
dams, the security of our water supply, and delivers best value 
for money.

Improving our emergency management 

Seqwater has improved its preparedness and ability to 
respond to water incidents and emergencies. Two Emergency 
Operations Centres have been established, bringing together 
for the first time our flood operations, 24-hour operations 
control centre and emergency management teams. 

The new centres have strong links with State, District and 
Local Disaster Management Groups (LDMGs), as required, 
as well as the Department of Energy and Water Supply, the 
Bureau of Meteorology, Queensland Fire and Emergency 
Services, Queensland Police Service, the Department of Health 
and other relevant authorities.

Seqwater has worked with the Inspector-General Emergency 
Management to improve our dam communications to the 
public. This included an expansion of our dam release 
notification service as well as increased use of social media 
channels. 

Seqwater also led workshops with LDMGs and other agencies 
to clarify and streamline communication in response to dam 
releases. Over the past 12 months the water sector’s  
Bulk Authority Emergency Response Plan has also been revised 
and updated.

The water grid at work

South East Queensland’s Water Grid continued to provide value 
to the community. In August 2015, for the first time since the 
grid was completed, drinking water was moved north from 
Brisbane to supplement supply on the Sunshine Coast due to 
falling dam levels. Water was again moved north from March 
this year to enable upgrades at the Landers Shute Water 
Treatment Plant.

In September last year, the Gold Coast Desalination Plant 
supplied 170,000 southern coast residents for almost a month 
to allow a critical upgrade of the Mudgeeraba Water Treatment 
Plant (WTP.) We will continue to optimally manage the grid 
assets for the people of South East Queensland.

By the summer of 2020, the desalination plant may be required 
to help manage peak demand on the Gold Coast.

Working with our partners

Seqwater continued to lead the region’s water industry 
partnership of water retailers and council-owned water 
businesses.

The partnership has identified a range of joint projects to 
deliver more effective and efficient water supply services to our 
communities. 

A joint Seqwater and Unitywater project will enable the 
decommissioning of the Petrie WTP, eliminating the need for an 
expensive upgrade. By the end of 2017, approximately  
100,000 Moreton Bay residents will be connected to the water 
grid for the first time by a new pipeline. The project will yield 
a $20 million saving for the community, by servicing customers 
from the more efficient North Pine WTP.

Work with our partners to improve catchment health and 
ultimately the region’s drinking water quality was ongoing. 
We signed a three-year agreement with the Lake Baroon 
Catchment Care Group to continue to improve the catchment 
health of the Sunshine Coast’s Baroon Pocket Dam. 

Since 2007–08, Seqwater has provided the group around  
$1.4 million in funding to deliver $2.6 million worth of projects, 
or almost double Seqwater’s investment. 
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The new partnership agreement is a blueprint for how we aim 
to work with our other catchment partners.

We continued to support the South East Queensland Council 
of Mayors’ Resilient Rivers Taskforce, which is developing 
integrated catchment action plans to better leverage and 
target investment in local catchment projects. Healthy 
Waterways also remained an important partner in improving 
our catchments and waterways.

Connecting with our community

In April, we launched our first Water for life community grants 
program, to partner with community groups and organisations 
on local initiatives which encourage people to learn about the 
water cycle and get involved in protecting source water quality. 
We will support 12 such community initiatives in 2016–17.

Our education program, including educational experiences at 
our major dams and treatment plants, attracted almost 
7,500 students and 6,000 community members. More than 
45,000 people visited our information and interpretive centres 
at Hinze and Wivenhoe dams. We extended our reach by 
participating in a range of community festivals and events, 
including the Noosa Festival of Water and RedFest at Redland, 
as well as the Royal Queensland Show (Ekka).

Our recreation areas across the region continued to prove 
popular with almost 2.6 million people visiting our dams, lakes 
and parks.

Investing in our people  

As SEQ’s bulk water authority, we are in a unique position to 
make a positive impact on our communities.

As always, our success is driven by our people and their 
commitment to the communities they live and work in. On 
behalf of the Board and the executive team, go our thanks and 
appreciation to our dedicated employees.

Ensuring we can maintain a highly skilled, capable and 
engaged workforce is fundamental to our future. We continued 
to invest in the development of our people. We introduced 
our Next Generation Program, which will see 33 trainees, 
apprentices and graduates join Seqwater between 2015 and 
2017. This represents more than 4% of our workforce.

We have started a multi-skilling initiative to create a new 
calibre of water industry worker, combining catchment and 
ranger skills with dam and water treatment plant operations. 
A new collaborative maintenance partner has been selected to 
help us service our dams, water treatment plants and extensive 
pipeline network from October 2016.

Building on strong foundations

This year we farewelled three of our founding Board 
members. Establishing the new Seqwater following the 
merger of Linkwater, the Water Grid Manager and the 
former Seqwater on 1 January 2013 was no small task. The 
extensive contributions of Chairman Noel Faulkner and Board 
members Leith Boully and Jenny Parker to building the strong 
foundations of the organisation we are today are therefore 
gratefully acknowledged. In particular, we thank foundation 
Chairman Noel Faulkner for his sage leadership. 

The team at Seqwater remains acutely aware of our 
responsibility to deliver a safe and reliable water supply 
each and every day, while continuing to provide vital 
flood mitigation, irrigation and recreation services to the 
communities we serve. We look forward to working with our 
partners and communities to continue to make South East 
Queensland the best place to call home.

Dan Hunt   Jim Pruss    
Chairman  Acting Chief Executive Officer
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Highlights of our year

Water supply resilience
We made improvements to our dams to keep them operating safely and efficiently into the future.  
See page 32. 

Working with our water partners
We worked to improve the water supply chain. See pages 29-30. 

Planning our water future 
We started a conversation with our communities to plan our water future and prepare version 2 of our 
Water Security Program. See page 29.

Consolidating our emergency operations
We created a hub for all major water sector emergency responses in South East Queensland. See page 26. 

Using the water grid
We moved water around the grid to supplement supplies on the Sunshine Coast and Gold Coast while 
upgrades were undertaken. See page 32.

SUPPLY
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Our water grid
Legend

Northern Pipeline Interconnector

Western Corridor Recycled Water Scheme

Southern Regional Water Pipeline

Eastern Pipeline Interconnector

Network Integration Pipeline

Other bulk water pipelines connecting the SEQ Water Grid

Local Government boundary

Reservoirs

Water Treatment Plants (WTP) - connected to grid

Water Treatment Plants (WTP) - off grid

Water Treatment Plants (WTP) - other

Western Corridor Recycled Water Scheme

Desalination plant

Water Treatment Plants (WTP)

1  Amity Point WTP

2 Atkinson Dam WTP

3 Banksia Beach WTP

4  Beaudesert WTP

5  Boonah Kalbar WTP

6  Borumba Dam WTP

7 Canungra WTP

8 Capalaba WTP

9 Dayboro WTP

10  Dunwich WTP

11  East Bank (Mount Crosby) WTP

12 Enoggera WTP

13 Esk WTP

14 Ewen Maddock WTP

15 Hinze Dam WTP

16  Image Flat WTP

17  Jimna WTP

18 Kenilworth WTP

19 Kilcoy WTP

20 Kirkleagh WTP

21 Kooralbyn WTP

22 Landers Shute WTP

23 Linville WTP

24  Lowood WTP

25 Maroon Dam WTP

26 Molendinar WTP

27 Esk WTP

28 Mudgeeraba WTP

29 Noosa WTP

30  North Pine WTP

31 North Stradbroke WTP

32 Petrie WTP

33 Point Lookout WTP

34 Rathdowney WTP

35 Somerset Dam (Township) WTP

36 West Bank (Mount Crosby) WTP

37 Wivenhoe Dam WTP

Western Corrdior
Recyled Water Scheme

38 Bundamba Advanced Water Treatment Plant 
(AWTP)

39 Gibson Island AWTP

40 Luggage Point AWTP

Desalination Plant

41 Gold Coast Desalination Plant

Reservoirs

42  Alexandra Hills Reservoirs

43 Aspley Reservoir

44 Camerons Hill Reservoir

45 Ferntree Reservoir

46 Green Hill Reservoirs

47 Heinemann Road Reservoirs

48 Kimberley Park Reservoirs

49 Kuraby Reservoir

50  Molendinar Reservoir

51 Mt Cotton Reservoir

52 Narangba Reservoirs

53 North Beaudesert Reservoirs

54 North Pine Reservoirs

55 Robina Reservoir

56  Sparkes Hill Reservoirs

57 Stapylton Reservoir

58 Wellers Hill Reservoirs
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Mary River 
Pump Station
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42

48
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46
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50
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43
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Baroon Pocket Dam
(Lake Baroon)

Ewen Maddock Dam

Poona Dam

Cooloolabin Dam
(Lake Cooloolabin)

Borumba Dam
(Lake Borumba)

Wappa
Dam

Somerset Dam
(Lake Somerset)

North Pine Dam
(Lake Samsonvale)

Wivenhoe Dam
(Lake Wivenhoe)

Atkinson Dam

Gold Creek 
Dam

Clarendon Dam
(Lake Clarendon)

Bill Gunn Dam
(Lake Dyer)

Hinze Dam
(Advancetown 

Lake)

Leslie Harrison Dam
(Tingalpa Reservoir)

Wyaralong 
Dam

Gold Coast
Desalination Plant

Moogerah Dam
(Lake Moogerah)

Maroon Dam
(Lake Maroon) Little Nerang 

Dam

 
Six Mile Creek Dam
(Lake Macdonald)

Sideling Creek Dam
(Lake Kurwongbah)

Bromelton Dam
(Bromelton Weir)

Cabbage Tree 
Creek Dam

(Lake Manchester)

Cedar Pocket Dam

Enoggera Dam
(Enoggera 
Reservoir)

Nindooinbah
Dam

34

17

6

18

19

3

14

22

16

29

21

25

5

27

28

15

7

26

4

41

31

33

1

108

39

40

38

24

2
37

11

36

9

30

3213

35

20
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12

City of
Gold Coast

Logan City
Council

Scenic Rim
Regional Council

Brisbane City
Council

Lockyer Valley 
Regional Council

Ipswich 
City Council

Somerset 
Regional Council

Moreton Bay 
Regional Council

Sunshine Coast 
Regional Council

Noosa Shire 
Council

Gympie 
Regional Council

Toowoomba 
Regional Council

Redland City
Council
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Performance report card

Our performance report card shows our progress in delivering against our Strategic Plan and Operational 
Plan 2015–16. We measured success by using key performance indicators and targets to drive continuous 
improvement across five strategic outcome areas.

Performance summary

Strategic outcome area KPI Result

1. Skilled and committed workforce Lost time injury frequency rate1 Not achieved
Significant injury frequency rate2 Not achieved

Completion of incident investigation outcomes to schedule Not achieved

Workforce availability Achieved
Workforce turnover Not achieved

2. Knowledgeable and engaged 
communities

Community awareness or understanding of high impact projects Achieved

Unprompted brand awareness Achieved

3. Trusted and respected partner Partner engagement rating Achieved
Planned savings achieved from Water Service Providers 
Partnership initiatives

Achieved

4. Optimised water and catchment 
services

Breaches of bulk water agreements3 Achieved

Zones compliant with the Australian Drinking Water Guidelines4 Achieved

Scheduled maintenance tasks delivered on time5 Achieved

Benchmark maintenance costs against like water industry 
organisations

Achieved

Catchment risk reduction actions implemented Not achieved
Emergency preparedness exercises completed Achieved

5. Sustainable financial performance Operational expenditure against budget (excluding efficiencies 
achieved)

Achieved

Variable operating cost of water supplied from the seven major 
water treatment plants

Achieved

Capital expenditure against budget Not achieved

Capital efficiencies achieved (against estimated costs of approved 
projects)

Partially achieved

Completion of enterprise risk mitigation actions to schedule Partially achieved

Completion of internal audit actions to schedule Not achieved

1 A lost time injury is defined as a work-related occurrence that resulted in time lost from work of one day/shift or more, permanent disability or a fatality (Workplace Injury and Disease 
Recording Standard–Australian Standard 1885.1– 1990). Lost time injury frequency rates are the number of lost time injuries within a given accounting period relative to the total number of 
hours worked in the same accounting period: Number of lost time injuries x 1,000,000 divided by total hours worked.
2 A significant injury is defined as an injury resulting in five or more days lost time.
3 For supply in accordance with section 7 of Bulk Water Agreement with Queensland Urban Utilities, Unitywater, Logan City Council, City of Gold Coast Council and Redland City Council.
4For water quality criteria, number of zones compliant with the Australian Drinking Water Guidelines 2011 guideline values based on the 95th percentile for health parameters, 98% for 
microbiological parameters and arithmetic mean for aesthetic parameters (with impacts downstream) over a rolling 12-month period. Compliance with these criteria is calculated 
quarterly.
5 Performance reported with one month lag. 
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Performance breakdown
For each key performance indicator, the annual result against target is shown, together with brief commentary on any variances and 
page references for more detailed analysis of performance.

STRATEGIC OUTCOME AREA 1 

Skilled and committed workforce
KPI Measure Target Performance  Result
Lost time injury 
frequency rate1

The lost time frequency injury rate ≤4.0 5.6 Not achieved

Significant injury 
frequency rate2

The rate of significant injuries ≤2.0 2.8 Not achieved

Completion of incident 
investigation outcomes 
to schedule

Percentage of incident investigations completed to 
schedule

100% 83% Not achieved

Workforce availability Percentage of hours employees have attended 
work

96% 96% Achieved

Workforce turnover Percentage of employee turnover from 
establishment positions

<10% 13% Not achieved

1 A lost time injury is defined as a work-related occurrence that resulted in time lost from work of one day/shift or more, permanent disability or a fatality (Workplace Injury and Disease 
Recording Standard –Australian Standard 1885.1– 1990). Lost time injury frequency rates are the number of lost time injuries within a given accounting period relative to the total number of 
hours worked in the same accounting period: Number of lost time injuries x 1,000,000 divided by total hours worked.
2 A significant injury is defined as an injury resulting in five or more days lost time.

Commentary

Six employees sustained lost time injuries this year, with three of these staff off work for five days or more. All injured employees 
are back at work carrying out normal or suitable duties.

As at 30 June 2016, only one incident action was overdue (falling due on 30 June 2016). The action has been prioritised for 
prompt close-out. Of all incident actions raised this financial year, 83% were closed out by the appointed due date.  The status of 
workplace health and safety corrective actions is continually monitored by management and necessary steps are taken to promptly 
address overdue actions. See page 21.

We achieved our workforce availability target of 96%, but turnover this year was higher than targeted. Retention strategies are 
being developed to reduce employee turnover and engage employees. See page 22-23.
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STRATEGIC OUTCOME AREA 2

Knowledgeable and engaged communities
KPI Measure Target Performance Result
Community awareness 
or understanding of 
high impact projects

Baseline percentage of the surveyed audience’s 
understanding of key projects

Establish 
baseline

74.5% Achieved

Unprompted brand 
awareness

Percentage of people who can recall Seqwater 
without prompting

26% 34% Achieved

Commentary

We measured community awareness and understanding of two high impact projects—the upgrade of the Mudgeeraba WTP and 
our Water Security Program—achieving an overall awareness percentage of 74.5%.

Sixteen Mudgeeraba WTP neighbours provided feedback following a major upgrade on the site, with 75% of survey respondents 
aware of the project. Qualitative data from the survey has been used to further improve and inform project communications.

We also surveyed 310 Water for life community forum participants about their awareness of Seqwater’s planning for future 
water infrastructure needs, achieving a 74% awareness rating. Forum participants were also asked to rate their satisfaction with 
Seqwater’s communication and engagement with them about Water for life, with 84% of participants scoring 8 or more out of 10. 
Community forums have proved to be an effective form of engagement about the Water Security Program and will be a channel for 
further interaction as the program progresses. See page 25.

Our brand awareness result of 34% is based on the May 2016 survey. The May survey is used as our annual figure as it is the 
survey immediately following the end of our education campaigns. See page 30.
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STRATEGIC OUTCOME AREA 3

Trusted and respected partner
KPI Measure Target Performance Result
Partner engagement 
rating

The aggregate mean score calculated from the 
proactivity of our engagement, the stakeholder’s 
personal opinion of us, their awareness of 
our major work programs, and their view of 
relationship quality

75% 71% Achieved

Planned savings 
achieved from Water 
Service Providers 
Partnership initiatives

Initiatives completed that will improve the 
partnership’s ability to reduce whole of supply 
chain costs

≥90% 
delivered 
against plan

90% 
delivered 
against plan

Achieved

Commentary

In October 2015, we commissioned an independent sentiment study of 39 key stakeholders to better understand their needs, 
expectations and opinions. A rating of 71% was achieved, just under the target of 75%. Insights from the study are being used to 
inform major customer and strategic stakeholder engagement plans. We plan to commission a follow-up study in 2017.

The Water Service Provider’s Partnership continues to work together to drive improvements to South East Queensland’s water 
supply, achieving its target of delivery against this year’s work plan.
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STRATEGIC OUTCOME AREA 4

Optimised water and catchment services

KPI Measure Target Performance Result
Breaches of bulk water 
agreements3

The instances of non-compliance with bulk water 
agreements for supply obligations

0 0 Achieved

Zones compliant with 
the Australian Drinking 
Water Guidelines4

The number of zones compliant with the 
Australian Drinking Water Guidelines for water 
quality criteria

100% 100% Achieved

Scheduled maintenance 
tasks delivered on time5

Percentage of tasks completed within scheduled 
quarter

≥95% 96% Achieved

Benchmark 
maintenance costs 
against like water 
industry organisations

Indication of performance against like water 
industry organisations

Benchmarking 
completed

Benchmarking 
completed

Achieved

Catchment risk 
reduction actions 
implemented

Percentage of catchment improvement initiatives 
implemented

≥90% 64% Not achieved

Emergency 
preparedness exercises 
completed

Percentage of exercises completed as part of our 
emergency readiness

100% 
completed

100% 
completed

Achieved

3 For supply in accordance with section 7 of Bulk Water Agreement with Queensland Urban Utilities, Unitywater, Logan City Council, City of Gold Coast Council and Redland City Council.
4For water quality criteria, number of zones compliant with the Australian Drinking Water Guidelines 2011 guideline values based on the 95th percentile for health parameters, 98% for 
microbiological parameters and arithmetic mean for aesthetic parameters (with impacts downstream) over a rolling 12-month period. Compliance with these criteria is calculated 
quarterly.
5 Performance reported with one month lag. 

Commentary

There were no breaches of bulk water agreements during 2015-163. All zones were compliant with the Australian Drinking Water 
Guidelines during this financial year. We achieved our target of more than 95% of maintenance tasks completed on time throughout 
the year to ensure a reliable water supply. We benchmarked our maintenance costs against other water entities and will now 
conduct a detailed analysis of the results to identify areas for potential improvement. See page 35-36.

We built momentum in the latter half of the year as the delivery phase of our catchment risk reduction program kicked off. Of the 
original program budget, 64% of projects were delivered, we made 3% in savings through efficient delivery, and 24% deferred to 
enable further planning due to weather or stakeholder impacts. The remaining projects have been approved and are on track to be 
delivered in 2016–17. See page 33.

Our annual emergency exercise was held on 16 September 2015, as part of a full program of training and planning ahead of the 
2015–16 wet season. See page 26.
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STRATEGIC OUTCOME AREA 5

Sustainable financial performance
KPI Target Performance Result
Operational expenditure against 
budget (excluding efficiencies 
achieved)

0 to -5% of approved budget 
$11,854,000

(4%) Achieved

Variable operating cost of water 
supplied from the seven major water 
treatment plants6

$73/ML $71.9/ML Achieved

Capital expenditure (CAPEX) spend 
against budget7

0 to 10%

$10,720,000

(25%) Not achieved

Capital efficiencies achieved (against 
estimated costs of approved projects)

5%

$5,360,000

$1,235,000 Partially achieved

Completion of enterprise risk 
mitigation actions to schedule

100% 96% Partially achieved

Completion of internal audit actions to 
schedule

100% 86% Not achieved

6 Variable operating costs include variable energy, chemicals and sludge management. 
7Capital expenditure excludes non-infrastructure capital expenditure.   

Commentary

The end of year operational expenditure target was achieved through employee identified productivity savings, progressive energy 
purchasing arrangements, new equipment to support efficient chemical dosing and savings in contracted landfill and transport fees. 
See page 31. 

Some $72.7 million in infrastructure improvements were completed in 2015–16, including projects delivered for about $7.4 million 
less than the approved budget. Many of the delays in capital expenditure projects were related to additional planning work 
required to ensure outcomes were prudent and efficient. Previous forecasts reflected planning to recover time lost during the 
first part of the winter construction timeframe. That recovery was not achieved, however most projects are now contracted and 
underway. See page 35-36.

General savings of $7.4 million were achieved across the capital infrastructure program, in addition to the $1.235 million capital 
efficiencies achieved due to market competitive procurement and effective project and cost management. Those savings did not 
meet the strict definition of capital efficiencies. See page 35-36.

We completed the majority of risk mitigations actions to schedule. See page 43.

There were five overdue audit actions as at 30 June 2016. Two became overdue in June 2016. We will continue to address 
outstanding items until they are complete. See page 44.
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Fostering a safe workplace 
Safety is a core value that underpins our approach to the 
way we work. To this end, we are committed to improving 
Workplace Health and Safety (WHS) leadership and culture 
across the business and building on our strong safety 
management system. 

We made pleasing progress on the development of our  
Safe for Life culture program which personalises our ‘safe for 
life’ philosophy at all levels of the business. Key elements of 
the program were successfully piloted during the year and 
we are well positioned to embed the approach throughout 
2016–17.  

The implementation of our new Permit Access Safety System 
(PASS) was a major achievement. PASS consolidates multiple 
site access protocols into a single system. The implementation 
of PASS has delivered improvements in the planning and 
visibility of work conducted at our sites, including management 
of contractors, high risk work permits and energy isolation 
protocols.

We also strengthened our control of critical hazards and 
associated WHS management systems, including:

• drafting our Life Saving Controls, a quick reference guide 
to controlling 10 critical hazards in our business. This 
publication aims to increase workforce understanding of 
critical hazards and will be released to employees and 
contractors in 2016-17

• completing in-depth risk reviews for critical hazards

• delivering robust hazard identification and risk 
management training to the broader workforce

• significantly reviewing and consolidating Emergency 
Response Procedures across major assets

• implementing major electrical safety improvements across 
multiple water treatment plants and network assets. This 
included an electrical safety inspection program spanning 
more than 150 sites and 850 distribution boards

• strengthening WHS resourcing and assurance programs for 
major capital projects. 

Upskilling our people 
Our new operations structure, bringing together our two 
operational groups, came into effect in August 2015. The 
streamlined structure drives operational excellence, looks at 
new ways of working to get the most of out of our catchments 
and built assets, and develops the skills and capability of our 
people.

The integrated operational structure is part of Designing our 
future, our five-year plan to drive operational excellence by 
making sure our team has the technical competence required 
to deliver a safe, secure and reliable water supply now and 
into the future. A multidisciplined, skilled workforce can work 
smarter and improve productivity.

We began with employees in our Scenic Rim operations team. 
We designed a technical competency framework outlining the 
knowledge, skills and experience required across catchment, 
dam and water treatment plant operations and linked it to the 
Australian Qualification Framework. A site-based competency 
assessment tool was developed and is linked to a training plan 
for all operational employees in the Scenic Rim.

To support these changes, a new Water Officer stream has 
been created to recognise the new, multi-skilled position and 
is proposed for inclusion in our next Enterprise Bargaining 
Agreement. 

In 2016–17, we will deliver hands-on and industry-based 
training and further refine our site-based competency 
assessment tool across the broader operations team.

Delivering maintenance improvements
An efficient and effective maintenance strategy underpins our 
ability to produce water each and every day. In 2014–15, we 
examined our maintenance approach and found it reflected the 
legacy arrangements that were transferred to Seqwater on  
1 January 2013 through the merger of Seqwater, Linkwater and 
the SEQ Water Grid Manager. 

The model had delivered some good outcomes, but there were 
inherent inefficiencies and limitations, including duplication, 
little market tension, no mobile technology solution and 
significant potential for intellectual property loss.

Skilled and committed workforce

STRATEGIC OUTCOME AREA 1
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We assessed a range of maintenance service delivery 
options—from fully insourced to fully outsourced—against 
a number of criteria, including the ability to deliver long term 
value, differential implementation costs (impacting short term 
cashflow), and risks.  

In 2015, we decided an Insourced Collaborative Contract 
model would serve us best, with Seqwater and a competitively 
contracted service provider operating an integrated workforce 
under a single management structure.

After an extensive selection process, Wood Group PSN was 
chosen as our collaborative maintenance partner until at least 
2021, with services commencing on 1 October 2016. Wood 
Group PSN will bring private sector experience in maintenance 
planning, system optimisation and delivery from the offshore 
petrochemicals industry as well as the water industry.

The partnership will drive value and improvements to our 
safety systems, maintenance planning, processes, logistics and 
critical spares support. The collaboration will open up a number 
of opportunities for our employees to develop their skills and 
capability and create career development pathways.

A successful transition to the new model will be our focus in 
2016–17, as well as establishing baseline measurements and 
targets. 

Building a positive organisational 
culture
Just as water is essential, so too are the people who ensure 
its supply. We are committed to working with our employees to 
foster a workplace where people know they are valued, enjoy a 
challenging work environment and continually learn.

Our culture and engagement survey asked our employees what 
we were doing well and what we could improve. 

We developed a cultural improvement action plan to address 
the feedback and checked on our progress with two pulse 
surveys during the year. Initiatives included: 

• building a network of Change Champions—employees 
trained to help facilitate change across the business at the 
team level

• facilitating team building sessions to help improve team 
culture

• embedding our values in the business by increasing their 
visibility in meeting rooms, policies, on-boarding processes 
and leadership development programs

• establishing a Diversity Committee to build awareness and 
increase diversity. 

To provide employees with greater clarity on our business 
strategy and what it means, we broke down our five-year 
strategic plan into a three-phase strategic roadmap. The 
roadmap details what we need to achieve across three horizons 
so we focus on the right activities at the right time. 

From 2016–18, we will simplify and stabilise, developing our 
people and culture, advancing safety leadership, engaging 
stakeholders, customers and communities, setting the path 
to financial sustainability and streamlining systems and 
processes. The strategic roadmap informed our Operational 
Plan 2016–17 and is reflected in group and team planning.

In the year ahead, we will work on connecting our employees 
to our long term vision and strategy.

Investing in our people
We are committed to promoting an organisational culture 
which is collaborative, inclusive and supports employees to 
perform at their best. In 2014–15, we introduced our  
Core Capability Framework. 

As at 30 June 2016, 85% of employees had received a 
performance rating against our core capabilities, with 100% of 
performance reviews expected to be completed by  
31 August 2016.

We measure individual performance through annual plans, 
linked to our organisation and team plans, to provide a clear 
line of sight between the individual and business outcomes. 
Having established this process with leaders, we expanded the 
program to all employees in 2015–16.
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We also developed Technical Capability Frameworks to 
complement the Core Capability Framework. These frameworks 
capture the specific capabilities required to perform technical 
roles across the business. 

Sixty front-line supervisors participated in the Success 
Strategies for Team Leaders and Supervisors Program, now 
in its third year. We also ran three Certificate IV Project 
Management courses and three Frontline Leadership Certificate 
Programs for our employees. A talent program was rolled out to 
identify the organisation’s leaders of the future.

Planning our workforce
We provide an essential service, so we need to plan ahead to 
ensure we have the right people, with the right skills, working 
in the right place at the right time. We implemented workforce 
planning across our business during 2015–16. 

To streamline recruitment, we launched an online recruitment 
management system to help attract, source and select talent. 
To improve the way we use data to make informed hiring 
decisions, we refined our recruitment process and corporate 
reporting.

Employee numbers

At the end of the 2015–16 year, the actual full time equivalent 
(FTEs) employees in permanent and non-permanent positions 
were 696.8 FTEs. Our budgeted permanent employees were 
602.1 FTEs8 and the actual filled permanent employees 
were 582.25 FTEs as at 30 June 2016.  The shortfall against 
budgeted permanent employees of 19.85 FTEs relates to 
vacancies not yet filled.

Our budgeted permanent and non-permanent employees 
for 2016–17 are 777.4 FTEs. The increase is mostly due to 
insourcing of the water quality sampling and monitoring 
program and increasing the maintenance team to support the 
new collaborative maintenance partnership.

Building an information enabled 
business 
In 2015–16, we implemented a number of technology solutions 
to make our workforce more efficient.

Our Procure 2 Pay project will result in a single, standardised 
procure-to-pay process across the business and has already 
resulted in more efficient ordering. Phase One of the project 
delivered shopping cart functionality to stores for seven critical 
spares suppliers.  

Phase Two automated inventory replenishment, reviewed and 
improved the purchasing process for stocked inventory and 
non-stocked items and was completed in July 2016.  The next 
phase will build a common shopping cart for wider use in the 
business, with expected roll out in 2017.

We commissioned the Maintenance Management System 
Improvement project to improve maintenance delivery 
processes and systems to support the Seqwater Collaborative 
Maintenance Contract (see page 21-22).

It was important to standardise and mature our maintenance 
processes and systems in preparation for the contract. A 
project to streamline disparate processes, enhance system 
capability to improve asset reliability, improve system 
performance and data integrity, remove paper-based 
procedures, and introduce a mobile solution and increase asset 
maintenance data collection is on schedule for delivery in 2016.

Our technology changes also supported our workforce in the 
field, including:

• rolling out an herbicide application to our biosecurity team 
to help them collect information and manage our weed 
spraying activities 

• developing a lease inspection application to allow for 
onsite inspection of our leased land

• creating an irrigation meter application to enable 
collection of meter readings.  

8Our 2015-16 budgeted permanent employees are 602.1 representing an increase of 1 FTE above the initial budget of 601.1
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We also improved our information tools and processes to 
provide timely, accurate and concise data to support decision 
making. 

We continued to develop our business intelligence capability, 
drawing data from internal and external systems, merging and 
aggregating them into a single point of truth, and presenting 
information in a dashboard. Employees use these dashboards 
to get an overall picture of the information we hold and make 
decisions accordingly.  In 2015–16, we set up a specialised 
business intelligence team, a business intelligence system to 
improve transparency and piloted a decision support analytics 
tool. 

A control domain was established to support the Monitoring 
and Control System Project and we implemented a central 
active directory domain, so we can set up users and manage 
security efficiently from one central location, rather than having 
to visit individual sites. With a business supporting as many 
diverse locations as ours, this provided substantial efficiencies. 
The system was piloted at two sites and will be rolled out to 
other sites in 2016–17.  

We also decommissioned several legacy hardware and 
software components that no longer served the business and 
consolidated our data centre infrastructure, application and file 
systems, and completed our asset renewal program.
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Knowledgeable and engaged communities

Engaging stakeholders, customers and 
communities
Supporting community engagement

In April 2016, we launched our inaugural Water for life 
community grants program to increase community education 
and engagement in projects that benefit South East Queensland 
waterways, catchments and communities.

Twelve community organisations were provided with grants 
of up to $10,000 to support a range of educational and 
engagement projects, from community restoration of catchment 
habitat to water quality testing and waterway protection.  
A total of $86,325 in grants has been awarded. 

During 2016–17, we will partner with grant recipients to 
support the roll out of their projects and seek to extend the 
reach and impact of these community initiatives.

Educating our community

We engage with our stakeholders, customers and communities 
to build awareness, understanding, trust and respect.  
In 2015–16, we shared the water story with the South East 
Queensland community at events such as the Royal Queensland 
Show (Ekka 2015), World Science Festival Brisbane—Green 
Heart Schools Future BNE Challenge, Play it Safe Day and Weir 
Safety Day.

Our education program continues to expand, with more 
than 13,500 students and adults particpating in learning 
experiences. Our education program is based on a modern 
pedagogy that combines curriculum with practical learning, 
outdoor investigation and storytelling. 

This year we piloted storythread, an innovative narrative and 
place-based pedagogy that builds conceptual knowledge and 
values about sustainability in students. Our Up the Creek and 
Down the Drain (UCDD) education unit uses a storythread 
approach to teach primary school children and allows students 
and teachers to engage emotionally and intellectually with a 
local waterway, to encourage positive action and behaviour 
change.

UCDD incorporates a range of innovative and interactive 
outdoor teaching methods to create a powerful story about a 
local waterway. 

It inspires students to become Waterway Investigators and 
undertake a project in their local community. UCDD was 
developed by Healthy Waterways in partnership with the 
Pullenvale Environmental Education Centre.

Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) 
practice has gained momentum in national and international 
schooling and presents an opportunity for us to share our 
expert knowledge. 

Our work in the STEM practice was highlighted through 
master classes and forums for senior to tertiary students and 
teachers. The master classes and forums are held onsite, and 
at university campuses. 

To support the sessions, in 2016–17 we will develop learning 
resources in conjunction with Department of Education and 
Training and our own employees with knowledge of geography, 
physics, mathematics and chemistry.

We also partnered with Department of Education and Training’s 
OneChannel live classroom initiative—an online service for 
teachers and state school students, providing access to real-
time learning. 

Teachers can participate in live programs via web conference 
as well as access on-demand program recordings 24 hours, 
seven days per week. The channel complements our school 
site tour learning experience program and includes our 
presentations, lesson plans and teaching resources. 

Serving our irrigation customers

We supply water for irrigation and industry to about  
1,200 customers through seven water supply schemes.

To provide information on historical water usage, operating and 
renewals expenditure, and future material renewal forecast 
expenditure, we developed Network Service Plans for each of 
our schemes. Network Service Plans will be published by  
30 September 2016 for the 2016–17 year.

STRATEGIC OUTCOME AREA 2 
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Knowledgeable and engaged communities

Information forums were held in a central location for each of 
our schemes to improve communication with our irrigators, 
with 129 of our customers attending. The forums are an 
opportunity to share information with our irrigation customers, 
and to hear their ideas, field questions and address concerns. 
We talked with attendees about our efforts to manage 
costs within the cost targets established by the Queensland 
Competition Authority (QCA) during its 2013 review of our 
irrigation prices. We will continue to hold forums for each 
scheme in 2016–17.

Our irrigation dams are reliant on rainfall to replenish their 
levels. During 2015–16, Bill Gunn Dam and Atkinson Dam 
ceased releasing water due to low water levels. Unless the 
region receives good rainfall, this situation will continue. 
Clarendon Dam is also at low levels and is able to supply 
Morton Vale pipeline customers only in 2016–17.

Managing emergencies and floods 
Our 26 large dams are operated in accordance with the 
requirements of the Queensland Dam Safety Regulator and 
the provisions of the Water Supply (Safety and Reliability) Act 
2008.  No dam safety incidents were recorded in 2015–16. 
Emergency Action Plans are in place for all of our referable 
dams, explaining how we manage dam emergencies, including 
large floods.  

In August 2015, we submitted our Annual Preparedness Report 
for Wivenhoe, Somerset and North Pine dams for flood events 
under the operations manuals for these dams. We maintained 
a comprehensive training program for members of the Flood 
Operations Team, including an updated workshop for flood 
engineers held on 8 August 2015. A test mobilisation of our 
Emergency Management Team and activation of the Emergency 
Operations Centre was conducted on 9 September 2015. A full 
water supply system emergency simulation was conducted 
on 16 September 2015 in conjunction with our water service 
provider partners. 

Consolidating our emergency operations

On 13 November 2015, The Hon Mark Bailey MP, Minister for 
Main Roads, Road Safety and Ports and Minister for Energy, 
Biofuels and Water Supply officially opened the Seqwater 
Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) in the Brisbane CBD. 

This facility is an integrated emergency operations centre that 
encompasses a Flood Operations Centre, Network Control 
Room and Emergency Management Area. Previously these 
operations were housed at multiple sites. The EOC is a base 
for managing all Seqwater incidents and emergencies. A 
duplicate centre is located at our Ipswich head office to provide 
redundancy and resilience. 

Both centres have the ability to:

• receive real-time rainfall and stream height data, analyse 
data and forecast flood flows

• manage and control pipeline flows throughout the water 
grid

• operate 24/7 to manage any flood event or water supply 
emergency.

The EOCs have reliable mains power feeds, back up systems 
and short term uninterruptible power supply.

We updated our Bulk Water Authority Emergency Response 
Plan. The plan meets the requirements of Chapter 6 of the  
Bulk Water Supply Code and provides the foundation for 
effective emergency management within the South East 
Queensland water supply system, in particular emergency 
response and recovery. 

Implementing independent review recommendations 

Throughout the year, we have been actioning recommendations 
from an independent review of our floodwater release warning 
system. 

The Minister for Emergency Services tabled the  
Inspector-General Emergency Management’s review of 
Seqwater and Sunwater Warnings Communications on  
5 November 2015. 
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We viewed the Inspector-General’s review as an opportunity to 
further improve our dam release communications. The review 
acknowledged the improvements we had already made since 
the 1 May 2015 weather event to provide the community with 
earlier and additional notifications of gated dam releases, 
ensuring the earliest possible advice that a weather event may 
result in gated dam releases. 

The Inspector-General recommended we work collaboratively 
with LDMGs in relation to dam notifications and warnings, 
and more generally, work with local councils on community 
education and information programs. 

To address the recommendations, we hosted three workshops 
across the region with 10 of 11 council LDMGs represented.

As part of our emergency preparedness, we participated in dam 
failure and dam releases scenario exercises and workshops 
with the LDMGs of Moreton, Ipswich and Gold Coast Councils. 
Other attendees included the Dam Safety Regulator, the 
Bureau of Meterology and the Office of the Inspector-General. 
We collaborated with Somerset Regional Council to integrate 
our dam release notification service with the council’s severe 
weather alert service. The community can now sign up for both 
services on the council’s website. 

In March 2016, we engaged Queensland University of 
Technology (QUT) researchers to review emergency 
communications and messaging literature, facilitate four 
community focus groups, and conduct an online survey of both 
subscribers and non-subscribers to our dam release notification 
service. The study drew on QUT research funded by the 
Bushfire and Natural Disasters Cooperative Research Centre, 
which looked at risk communications during the response and 
recovery phases of natural disasters.

The report and its recommendations were delivered in 
July 2016. We will review the report and if necessary, 
adjust the content, means and timing of notifications or 
supporting communication activities before the 2016–17 wet 
season. Research findings will also be shared with relevant 
stakeholders. 

As at 30 June 2016, we were in the final stages of developing 
a mobile phone app to complement our existing dam release 
notification service channels. 

We continued to work closely with the Queensland Fire 
and Emergency Services in relation to dam emergency 
and evacuation procedures, and with LDMGs to reaffirm 
communication roles and responsibilities.

Before the 2016–17 wet season, we will review the Manual of 
Operational Procedures for Flood Mitigation at Wivenhoe and 
Somerset Dams and North Pine Dam. 

The manuals provide sufficient information and guidance to 
suitably qualified and experienced professional engineers to 
allow those engineers to make appropriate decisions on how 
best to release floodwater from the dams during flood events. 

Supporting outdoor recreation
Between June 2013 and October 2014, we conducted an 
extensive community review of recreation at 20 of our lakes. 
We continued to implement the review’s outcomes. More than 
2.6 million people visited our dams, lakes and parks in 2015–16 
so it is important these spaces are maintained to maximise 
community enjoyment. Improvements included:

• establishing two designated stop off points on Lake 
Wivenhoe

• commencing a 12-month trial of revised opening hours

• developing multi-use trails at Lake Samsonvale (to be 
opened late September 2016)

• upgrading picnic areas at Lake Macdonald 

• installing picnic tables and shelters at Waterside Park, 
Hinze Dam 

• starting work to reopen the Billies Bay/Hays Landing 
recreation areas at Lake Wivenhoe, including a new 
designated swimming area. 

• building a new toilet at the Ornamental Wetlands at 
Ewen Maddock Dam to support users of the neighbouring 
Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service mountain bike trail 
network 

• installing softfall rubber under playground equipment at 
Hinze Dam, Lake Moogerah and Lake Maroon 



Seqwater | Annual Report 2015–16 28

• upgrading paddlecraft launch areas at Lake Maroon and 
Wyaralong Dam 

• upgrading of mountain bike trails at Wyaralong Dam.

We removed and replaced old signage, installed new bollards 
and barbeques, resurfaced trails and car parks and constructed 
shelters at mountain bike trails and boat ramps. 

Our team worked closely with the Department of National 
Parks, Sport and Racing to plan new and improved facilities at 
Enoggera Reservoir and to reopen Billies Bay/Hays Landing at 
Wivenhoe Dam (scheduled in late 2016).

On 30 June 2015, a new interim access arrangement was put 
in place at Lake Kurwongbah, in Brisbane’s northern suburbs. 
The arrangement sees Waterski Queensland and the Lake 
Kurwongbah Water Ski Zone using the lake from Thursday to 
Saturday inclusive, with the general public accessing the lake 
for paddling from Sunday to Wednesday inclusive.

This shared access arrangement will remain in place while 
a detailed water quality assessment of neighbouring Lake 
Samsonvale (North Pine Dam) is completed to determine 
whether additional water-based recreation can be considered. 
The water quality study is expected to be completed in the first 
half of 2016–17.

We will continue to make improvements to our recreation 
areas throughout 2016–17 in partnership with the community, 
recreational organisations and state and local government.
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Addressing community priorities 
On 6 July 2015, we launched Water for life: South East 
Queensland’s Water Security Program 2015–2045. This is our 
plan to provide a safe, secure and cost-effective water supply 
for our growing region. This year, we finalised version 1 of 
the program, held conversations with our communities about 
their water values and possible water futures and further 
investigated our drought response approach using an economic 
cost model in preparation for Version 2.

Version 1 of the Water Security Program included: 

• projected regional average urban demand 

• infrastructure planning (including new supply, treatment 
and transport infrastructure), operations and management

• planning arrangements for off-grid communities deemed 
to be at significant risk of having a water supply shortfall 
within the next five years

• approaches to demand management and drought 
response.

Our research tells us that without a drought, or sharp increase 
in demand, we have enough water for our region for about  
15 years. But after that, we will need new water options to 
meet the region’s needs. It is important that we plan now to 
ensure that we have enough water to sustain our communities 
and help them prosper into the future.

Water for life is a conversation we are having with the 
community about our region’s water future. We have sought 
feedback from South East Queensland about:

• their values in relation to water

• their vision for highly liveable communities

• the water options available

• their preferences regarding trade-offs between these 
options.

Eight community forums were held, involving 548 participants 
in total. Almost 3,000 people responded to our online survey to 
share their views. 

We have time to choose the right water future for  
South East Queenslanders and we will continue to consult our 
communities about their views to inform the plan. 

Version 2 of the Water Security Program is to be submitted to 
the Queensland Government by February 2017 and published by 
31 March 2017. Version 2 will build on the findings of  
Version 1, incorporate community views and values, and 
include a more detailed drought response plan. Version 2 will 
also include detailed water security planning arrangements 
for all of the off-grid communities and will progress the 
development of a broadened options assessment framework.

Partnering to optimise industry 
performance
We continued to lead the region’s water industry partnership of 
water retailers and council-owned water businesses.

The South East Queensland Water Service Providers 
Partnership identified a range of joint initiatives and projects 
aimed at delivering more effective and efficient water supply 
services. 

A key initiative was the development of a joint Seqwater and 
Unitywater project, which will enable the decommissioning 
of the Petrie WTP, eliminating the need for a required future 
upgrade. By the end of 2017, about 100,000 additional 
residents in Moreton Bay will be connected to the water grid 
for the first time. A new pipeline will connect into the grid, 
saving water customers about $20 million by negating the need 
for the Petrie plant to be upgraded and by servicing customers 
from the more efficient North Pine WTP.

With our water supply partners, we worked on managing water 
quality, considering options to increase the reliability and 
resilience of water supply in the Logan and Beaudesert regions 
and identifying ways to improve water quality throughout the 
grid. 

The Partnership Water Quality Plan, currently in development, 
will outline our agreement to water quality objectives and 
targets, to link catchment-to-consumer processes across 
catchments, WTPs, the bulk supply system and the reticulation 
system. 

STRATEGIC OUTCOME AREA 3

Trusted and respected partner
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This work will drive operational improvements and inform 
planning outcomes across the different businesses. 

The Partnership Water Quality Plan will align drinking water 
quality risk assessment processes and provide greater 
transparency for customers. 

The Regional Secondary Disinfection Optimisation Project aims 
to improve the understanding of what operational, maintenance 
and capital initiatives may be implemented to further improve 
the effectiveness and cost-efficiency of secondary disinfection.

Another joint initiative was the inaugural water sector Safety 
Saves Forum, involving contractors and new entrants to the 
industry. The forum promoted safe work behaviours across the 
South East Queensland water industry. 

We continued to partner with the Council of Mayors, assisting 
in the development of two regional catchment action plans. 
Our team provided technical support on investment models 
based on research findings from an international research 
collaboration. Employees also provided input and attended 
catchment action plan workshops as part of the Council of 
Mayors work in this area.

Building our brand 
For the second year, we ran our Play it safe summer safety 
campaign between November 2015 and April 2016. Building 
on the momentum and awareness from the inaugural year, the 
2015–16 campaign focused on community participation and 
external engagement to increase the awareness and practice of 
safe behaviours at our dams, lakes and parks. 

The campaign featured ‘Ranger Joe’ who reminded South East 
Queenslanders that still water can still be risky and encouraged 
visitors to our recreation areas to check the safety tips and 
notices on our website before leaving home.

Our launch event, Play it safe day, was held on  
25 November 2015 at Wivenhoe Dam. More than 600 primary 
school students attended and participated in a range of 
activities, including swimming, fishing and canoeing. 

Students were also able to learn more about water safety from 
participating partners including Surf Lifesaving Queensland, 
Queensland Police Service, St John’s Ambulance,  

Queensland Fire and Emergency Services, Freshwater Fishing 
and Stocking Association of Queensland, Queensland Urban 
Utilities and Queensland Canoeing. 

To increase the reach of the program, this year’s Play it safe day 
was complemented by three smaller events held at Hinze Dam, 
Baroon Pocket Dam and Enoggera Reservoir. Feedback from 
participating schools was very positive and the events attracted 
print, online, radio and television coverage. 

The summer campaign involved joint patrols with the 
Queensland Police Service and we also collaborated with other 
agencies that share our safety agenda including the Queensland 
Police Service, Queensland Department of Education and 
Training, Queensland Department of National Parks, Sport and 
Racing, Maritime Safety Queensland and retailer BCF.

On 15 February 2016, we launched an eight-week online 
photographic competition called #safey to encourage personal 
responsibility for safety at our dams. A #safey is a safety 
‘selfie’. Community members were invited to submit a photo 
and caption of themselves engaging in safe behaviour at one of 
our recreation areas. Weekly and fortnightly prizes were offered 
to encourage participation. At the close of competition on 10 
April 2016, 725 entries had been approved and shared online. 
The competition and associated promotion on Facebook and 
radio generated online discussion and there were  
489,861 completed views of the competition safety video.

We received strong stakeholder support for the initiative, 
with promotion and involvement by organisations such as the 
Australian Water Association, Queensland Police Service, 
Department of Education and Training, local councils, water 
service provider partners, Department of Energy and Water 
Supply (DEWS), Queensland Treasury, Maritime Safety 
Queensland, the Department of Health and Healthy Waterways.

The #safey competition has driven the Play it safe campaign’s 
transition from a focus on paid advertising to digital 
engagement and user-generated content, a trend we believe 
will continue in future years. Our annual unprompted brand 
awareness in the community was 34%. At the height of the 
campaign, we achieved 62% prompted awareness, the first 
time it has exceeded 60% since tracking began in  
October 2013.
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Achieving operational excellence 
We take every opportunity to raise the bar and deliver water 
and catchment services that benefit stakeholders, customers 
and communities. Our goal every day is to be the best in the 
business at providing a safe, secure and cost-effective water 
supply. In 2015–16, we looked at different ways we could use 
energy, chemicals and other resources to reduce the cost of 
producing water. Projects included:

• installing alum flash mixers on two sedimentation basins 
at Mount Crosby East Bank WTP to increase alum dosing 
efficiency and reduce lime usage and sludge production

• using new online water quality analysers at our water grid-
connected WTPs to provide real-time prediction of the best 
coagulant dose rate, reducing costs

• changing to a lower cost ammonia product at Holts Hill 
Reservoir

• consolidating multiple mowing and slashing contracts into 
one, saving money and enabling employees to focus on 
other tasks, such as aquatic weed removal

• adopting a progressive purchasing arrangement for 
procurement of bulk energy that provides the opportunity 
to advance purchase energy when the market price is 
lower. Production and pumping schedules have been 
adjusted to make best use of the new tariff structure 

• finding an alternative use for our waste sodium 
hypochlorite, with Queensland Urban Utilities (QUU) now 
using our surplus stock at their wastewater treatment 
plants

• consolidating sludge disposal at North Pine and 
Mount Crosby WTPs. An amendment to the related 
environmental authorities enabled the transportation and 
disposal of sludge from any of our WTPs at the licensed 
sludge disposal areas at North Pine and Mount Crosby. 
Transporting sludge produced by the water treatment 
process to large landfill sites offsets the higher costs for 
disposing this material at externally managed landfill sites 
and remains within the bounds of the original approvals.

Several initiatives for plant optimisation across our 
conventional WTPs began in 2015–16, including coagulation 
control support projects and an evaluation of water treatment 
plant process modelling tools. We will continue to implement 
these projects and analyse findings in the coming year. 

To improve the Mount Crosby East Bank WTP’s resilience 
and capacity during flood events, we started to upgrade the 
chemical storage facilities in May 2016. The upgrade will 
provide greater capacity for delivering and storing chemicals 
at the plant. We involved the community in the project through 
the Mount Crosby Historical Society, and used an online 
engagement platform to conduct polls so locals could choose 
the colour and brick type for the new retaining wall and discuss 
landscaping options.

Delivering efficiencies 
We improved the efficiency of our built assets.

The water flow in the bi-directional Northern Pipeline 
Interconnector (NPI) was switched to flow north on  
10 March 2016 to enable maintenance and upgrades at the 
Landers Shute WTP, near Montville. Landers Shute is the most 
efficient plant in the grid, using gravity rather than pumps to 
move water to where it is needed.

A series of capital works projects are planned at the plant over 
the next few years to improve its performance and maximise its 
production capacity. These projects aim to remove bottlenecks 
in the existing treatment process, improve system resilience 
and reduce production costs.

In June 2016, we began building a new WTP at Canungra to 
secure the community’s long term water supply. The town’s 
current plant was built in 1970 and last upgraded in 1982, but 
does not have the capacity to keep pace with future demand. 
The new plant will have almost four times the production 
capacity.

Work also commenced to replace one of the oldest pipelines in 
the SEQ Water Grid, improving the reliability of drinking water 
supply to more than 50,000 consumers in Brisbane’s north-
west. 

Optimised water and catchment services

STRATEGIC OUTCOME AREA 4
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The 75-year-old underground pipeline along Wardell Street 
directly supplies Ashgrove and Mitchelton, while also 
supporting the reliability of supply to Brisbane’s northern 
suburbs. The $4.2 million upgrade will comprise three stages 
and is expected to take about nine months. 

Improving dam safety 
Our Dam Improvement Program continued throughout 2016–17, 
with investigations and planning underway for future upgrades 
at Lake Macdonald, Ewen Maddock Dam, Sideling Creek Dam, 
Leslie Harrison Dam and Somerset Dam. 

Lake Macdonald

Extensive geotechnical assessments of the dam spillway and 
embankments at Lake Macdonald Dam at Cooroy, Noosa have 
identified the need for a dam upgrade. Based on information 
from these assessments, we developed a number of options to 
ensure the dam meets the required standards into the future.

The preliminary upgrade design being proposed includes 
replacing the current dam spillway with a new labyrinth or  
zig-zag spillway and an upgrade to the dam embankments. If 
we proceed with this option, the dam water level will need 
to be lowered during the construction of the new spillway to 
provide a safe working environment.

To support the options assessment, we undertook additional 
site investigations in May 2016 to determine rock and soil 
characteristics below the spillway. 

We will continue to engage with the Lake Macdonald 
Community Reference Group on dam improvement options 
with a view to seeking feedback from the wider community in 
the second half of 2016. A formal comprehensive Board and 
Government approvals process will be undertaken to consider 
all aspects of the project. 

Somerset Dam

As part of the Somerset Dam Improvement Project, we 
lowered Somerset and Wivenhoe dams to new temporary 
full supply levels of 80% and 90% of their drinking water 
capacity respectively, while preserving the flood security for 
communities downstream.

Water was released from the storages between 20 January 
and 15 February 2016. Downstream bridges and crossings  
were kept open and there was minimal impact on irrigation 
customer infrastructure. Production at the Mount Crosby 
WTPs was ramped up during the lowering to make use of 
approximately 100 ML of additional raw water per day and to 
conserve North Pine Dam and Hinze Dam supplies. 

Geotechnical investigations to inform the scope and timing 
of a future upgrade were completed in May 2016. Concept 
design is on schedule for completion in 2016. While the dam 
remains lowered, an alternative procedure for flood operations 
of Somerset Dam has been prepared in consultation with 
DEWS and has received in principle endorsement. Under the 
procedure, flood water will be passed through Somerset Dam 
into Wivenhoe Dam rather than stored in Somerset’s flood 
storage compartment.

Using the water grid
We made use of our alternative water supply. Given our current 
water security, we operate the Gold Coast Desalination Plant in 
a hot standby mode, meaning the plant is able to respond as a 
contingent supply and provide 33% capacity within  
24 hours and 100% capacity within 72 hours. To maintain this 
state of readiness, the plant must be operated and maintained 
appropriately, including undertaking regular plant runs. Since 
August 2013, we have run the plant twice a week. With our 
partner Veolia, we challenged ourselves to make efficiencies 
while maintaining performance.

An alternative operating strategy that maintained process 
integrity with minimised production volumes and plant 
operation times was trialled. The Reduced Frequency Run Time 
(RFRT) mode of operation has delivered $340,000 in savings 
while maintaining the plant’s required state of readiness.

During the year the plant operated twice outside the RFRT 
mode. In September 2015, the plant was called upon to 
supplement the southern Gold Coast water supply, producing 
930 ML of drinking water over 20 days during the temporary 
closure of the Mudgeeraba WTP for an upgrade. We also 
used the plant for five days in February 2016 during a planned 
upgrade at the Molendinar Water Treatment Plant.
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Enhancing catchment services
Water treatment begins in the catchments of our drinking 
water storages. We recognise the importance of partnering 
with government, industry and the community to invest and 
support long term improvement in catchment health. 

This year we spent more than $2.7 million improving the 
resilience of our catchments, including work such as bank 
stabilisation, riparian restoration and weed management. 

We signed a new partnership agreement with the Lake 
Baroon Catchment Care Group in December 2015. The six-
year agreement provides $1.5 million in funding for the group 
to deliver projects and leverage additional funding to better 
protect the Lake Baroon catchment and ultimately the region’s 
drinking water quality.  The agreement is a blueprint for how 
we would like to work with other catchment groups across the 
region, building partnerships and relationships that result in 
improved outcomes for catchment health. 

Our support of the Council of Mayors Resilient Rivers Working 
Group in preparing regional catchment action plans continued 
in 2015–16. These plans list priority actions to address 
significant catchment risks. Working with the Council of 
Mayors and other partners, including the State Government, 
Healthy Waterways and Queensland Urban Utilities, means 
there is a holistic approach to catchment improvement.

The catchment action plan for the Mid Brisbane River and the 
Lockyer was completed during 2015–16, and the Logan-Albert 
Action Plan is in development. These plans are of particular 
importance to Seqwater given the impact of these catchments 
on the raw water quality in the Mid Brisbane River and the long 
term performance of the Mount Crosby WTPs, which supply up 
to 40% of the region’s drinking water. 

Understanding expectations and acceptable risk levels for 
water quality and reliability, as well as identifying the drivers 
and key processes of these risks and how we can influence 
them, are aspects we continued to work on throughout the 
year. 

We conducted an extensive sanitary survey program within 
our drinking water quality catchments, a quantitative risk 
analysis of the pathogens in our catchments and the treatment 
capability of our WTPs.  

Innovative developments in research and technology, such as 
using satellite imagery to detect erosion hotspots to increase 
confidence in our risk assessments, were also explored.

Through these activities and our research program, we have 
benchmarked our risk against public health indicators. With a 
better understanding of our catchment risks, we can prioritise 
capital and operational improvements and how to best work 
with our catchment partners. 

Continuing environmental education
We are committed to complying with our environmental 
obligations and preventing environmental harm from our 
operations. This commitment is met through our dedicated 
environmental resources and our decision to adopt AS/NZS ISO 
14001:2004 Environmental Management Systems (EMS) as the 
framework for managing workplace environmental practices 
and performance. 

To deliver on this commitment, we developed a tiered 
environmental education program for all employees. Employees 
who rarely encounter environment risks, such as office-based 
staff, completed an online environmental education module.

Employees who have a direct interface with the significant 
environmental risks of the business, such as operations, 
maintenance and project staff, completed a three-hour face-
to-face training session including a competency assessment. 
This was the first time a consolidated organisational-wide 
environmental education program had been delivered at 
Seqwater. 

We are developing training for employees who have 
management responsibilities which may influence or direct 
operational and asset strategies, system implementation and 
policy development. The delivery of the education programs 
empowers our employees with the right knowledge and 
awareness of environmental risk and regulatory obligations 
and enables targeted and risk-driven implementation of 
environmental controls. 
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As part of the continual improvement cycle, our environmental 
management unit has implemented a number of initiatives 
including: 

• the development of stormwater management plans at all 
operational water treatment plants

• targeted environmental auditing program across 36 water 
and wastewater treatment facilities and 14 dams, weirs 
and associated catchments

• Targeted risk reviews for chemical management and 
operational dam releases. 

Cultural heritage
We are committed to the recognition and protection of 
Indigenous and non-indigenous cultural heritage values. A 
dedicated Cultural Heritage Officer was appointed this year and 
we finalised a Cultural Heritage Compliance Manual, which 
outlines our processes, legislative compliance and procedures 
for unexpected finds and the discovery of possible human 
remains. We met with a number of Aboriginal groups to discuss 
cultural heritage management, ongoing opportunities and 
future agreement options. 

In 2016–17, we will progress in-depth heritage studies and 
conservation management plans. Once implemented, they will 
improve our ability to protect and manage our heritage assets. 

Excelling in flood mitigation
Our dams primarily store our drinking water but they also help 
to mitigate floods. We live in a climate of extremes and the 
region experiences severe weather events from time to time. 
Through these events, we manage the bulk water supply and 
dam operations.

Managing weather events

During the 2015–16 wet season, we promoted our dam release 
notification service through targeted social media messaging 
and advertising, via council information kits featuring local 
dams, and variable message signs at bridges and crossings. 

We also commissioned three animations showing how our 
gated and un-gated dams work, and how the Somerset-
Wivenhoe dam system operates. 

These animations received many viewings during wet 
weekends in June 2016, reinforcing the approach to promote 
these animations in the lead up to and during weather events.

Our Flood Operations Centre moved to alert status twice in 
June 2016 as a precautionary measure due to forecast rainfall. 
With some of our dams close to full supply level, we advised 
subscribers to our dam release notification service for  
North Pine, Somerset and Wivenhoe dams of the move to 
alert status, and provided updates on spilling dams to relevant 
subscribers as the rain events progressed. Notifications were 
supported by updates on social media channels, our website, 
radio and television interviews. 

Based on current consumption figures, the 4 to 5 June 2016 
rainfall event resulted in about 40 days of drinking water being 
captured in the Grid Twelve, the 12 key dams that make up 
nearly 90% of South East Queensland’s total storage volume. 
The 19 to 20 June 2016 rainfall event added a further 34 days 
of drinking water to the grid.

Controlled low flow releases were made from Somerset Dam 
to Wivenhoe Dam during June and early July to balance 
the storages. This type of release is a normal operational 
occurrence and Somerset Dam notification subscribers were 
advised at the outset and cessation of releases.

Water supply was maintained to all communities during both 
June events.
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Improving commercial performance
By achieving efficient operating costs and improving asset 
performance, our stakeholders, customers and communities 
can have confidence in the long term sustainability of our 
business. 

Our budget is compiled from first principles (zero based) to 
articulate clearly the funding required to deliver the operational 
and strategic outcomes approved by the Board. However, 
the bulk water we produce is sold on a volumetric basis. 
This means that our revenue projections may be impacted by 
demand and the prevailing weather conditions, as was the 
case in 2015–16. The sale of bulk water was $16 million below 
budget for the year. Despite the reduction in revenue, we 
successfully achieved our budgeted earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA). We challenged the 
way we operate to continually improve our business and drive 
performance.

While the reduction in water production resulted in a decrease 
in our variable costs of chemicals, energy and waste disposal, 
further savings were achieved through an extensive in-house 
program to improve chemical dosing efficiency at our WTPs and 
the implementation of a new waste disposal contract. 

As part of the 2013 Enterprise Bargaining Agreement, a portion 
of wage increases was contingent upon savings targets being 
reached. Employees identified permanent savings of $433,000, 
exceeding the required target savings of $289,000 in the first 
six months of the year to earn a 0.5% wage increase from 1 
January 2016. Since its introduction in 2013, we have achieved 
an ongoing reduction in operating expenditure of  
$9.5 million which contributes to the affordability of water for 
our customers.

During 2015–16, we continued to refresh and finesse our 
cashflow models to enable the best possible use of our 
cash. We have tight control over our working capital cash to 
minimise the need to borrow further funds from our lender, 
Queensland Treasury Corporation. Careful cash management 
and prudent budget control meant Seqwater did not have to 
borrow any additional funds in 2015–16. This is the first year 
this has been achieved.

Driving value from our assets
We continued to improve our asset management practices and 
integrate longer planning horizons. The Asset Management 
Improvement Program was established in October 2015 to 
coordinate improvements to asset management practices 
across the business. Under the program, we completed 
improvements to strategic asset management and service 
definition, investment governance, asset information 
management and asset hierarchy. This program will continue in 
2016–17.

After extensive stakeholder consultation, we revised our 
Strategic Asset Management Plan. A comprehensive service 
definition was completed, which will help implement asset 
management objectives and provide a framework for reliability 
measures and targets. We completed failure consequence 
modelling for our grid-connected WTPs and defined critical 
assets.

Work is underway to develop an Integrated Master Plan, 
outlining the long term strategic asset needs and projected 
operational strategies required to implement the Water 
Security Program. A major contributing project will be the 
Network Asset Assessment, which will deliver a hydraulic 
understanding of our bulk water transport network and identify 
opportunities and constraints to be addressed over the 30-year 
planning horizon. We expect the Integrated Master Plan will be 
updated as inputs change or water security objectives evolve.  
A first version of the Integrated Master Plan will be delivered in 
2017 as a part of the next regulatory price path submission.

Four WTPs—Mount Crosby East Bank and West Bank, North 
Stradbroke Island and Capalaba—were certified to national 
and international standards for safety, the environment, 
drinking water quality and quality management by the 
international certification body SAI Global. Our final two plants 
to apply for certification are the Kalbar and Lowood WTPs, 
which will occur in September 2016. Certification of our 12 
main WTPs is part of our assurance process given these plants 
produce 97% of the water provided for distribution to South 
East Queensland.

In addition, we continued to integrate our four quality 
management systems to minimise duplication and improve 
efficiency. 

STRATEGIC OUTCOME AREA 5

Sustainable financial performance

STRATEGIC OUTCOME AREA 5
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This included integration of the management review process, 
internal audit program, incident investigation, risk management 
and reporting.

During 2015–16, we participated in the Water Services 
Association of Australia Cost Efficiency Benchmarking Study to 
compare operational expenditure with peer businesses across 
Australia. The study highlighted potential areas where we 
could further reduce costs and will be progressed in  
2016–17. We will continue to develop our benchmarking of 
costs, including a more detailed study on the efficiency of 
different bulk water service delivery models with key entities.  

Developing a sustainable capital 
structure
A significant achievement was the 2016 Asset Portfolio 
Master Plan (APMP), the first consolidated, long term plan that 
considers capital expenditure from all business areas in the 
same framework.  

The APMP is the point of truth for our 20-year capital 
investment program for infrastructure, including natural, 
storage, treatment, transport, purified recycled water, 
irrigation and recreation assets. It includes the 20-year capital 
investment program for non-infrastructure capital, including 
facilities and information, communication and technology. 

We are updating our internal capital approval process to 
align with the Queensland Treasury Gateway process. The 
Queensland Government has endorsed the use of the 
OGC Gateway™ Process (Gateway) for major infrastructure 
programs and projects.

Gateway reviews employ a small team of independent experts 
to examine major programs or projects at key decision points.
They help identify opportunities to improve the delivery of 
programs and projects to ensure the best possible outcome. 

A review of our existing system showed we could achieve 
improvements in our gateway numbering, naming and other 
steps. This will help ensure our capital projects continue to 
meet strategic objectives and achieve value for money.

Managing asset information

We previously managed asset and investment information 
through a system commissioned in 2009. Although fit for 
purpose at the time, our asset and investment decision making 
has matured and the information to support business demands 
has grown over time. During the year, we realigned information 
capture and storage to support the entire asset lifecycle. 
We reconfigured our system to enable greater accessibility, 
provide meaningful context and strengthen control of our asset 
information. More than 70,000 engineering drawings have 
been identified and registered into our electronic Document 
and Records Management System (eDRMS). By the end of 
2016–17, employees will be able to access all available 
engineering drawings through the eDRMS. We will continue to 
collect, validate, populate and improve the quality of our asset 
data during 2016–17.

Because our information flow needs to support our business 
processes, we have developed a greater understanding of 
our asset management and investment lifecycle processes 
to further improve the efficacy of the data we capture. This 
has been achieved by aligning asset management process 
design with a corporate process architecture and applying 
business process modelling techniques to document 
processes and information flows across the asset lifecycle. 
Our Asset Information Manual will be updated to reflect these 
requirements and clarify information standards, responsibilities 
and expectations.  

As a geographically dispersed business with assets across 
South East Queensland, providing meaningful environmental 
context to our assets is crucial and we continue to rely on our 
geospatial information systems to provide this context. 

In 2015–16, we conducted site surveys to validate the location 
and attributes of 28 kilometres of raw water pipelines and 
established the capability to collect data through mobile 
devices and represent this information spatially to assist in 
managing our catchments and natural assets (fire tracks, 
significant trees and herbicide application areas).
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The next phase of improving our information systems will 
focus on aligning investment forecasts with our asset register, 
improving access and presentation through enhanced GIS tools 
and continuing to improve management and availability of 
our unstructured data, including operations and maintenance 
manuals and process drawings.

We built a WTP performance dashboard to enable operational 
staff to monitor and improve the efficiency of their assets. 
The dashboard brings together key operational performance 
metrics, and due to its structure, enables planning and analysis 
across chosen time periods. The dashboard gives employees 
the ability to examine performance at individual plant level as 
well across the system. Other business groups have also been 
able to access the information to inform their decision making. 

An Investment Assessment Summary has been completed and 
development is expected to begin in 2016–17.

Getting the best out of our research programs

Our Research Management Strategy 2016–21 was completed 
in June 2016 and describes the five-year direction of our 
research program. The strategy provides a research overview, 
how we will identify and prioritise our research projects, 
the mechanisms available to procure research providers and 
governance arrangements. 

Driving value for customers
We provide an essential service and are determined to lead the 
way in driving value for our customers and making every dollar 
count. We strive to operate at optimal efficiency by improving 
our business processes and eliminating waste, while also 
managing and mitigating business risks.  

Significant cost savings in 2015–16 reduced our operating 
expenditure by nearly $10 million compared to our budget.  
These savings were delivered through a range of initiatives 
including:

• saving approximately $8 million through a review of 
consultants and contractor requirements which included 
the deferral or elimination of some activities, rescoping 
of projects and undertaking some projects with internal 
resources

• in partnership with Veolia, reducing the operating costs of 
the WCRWS and the Gold Coast Desalination Plant by  
$2.4 million

• through effective risk management, governance and claims 
management, reducing the cost of insurance by  
$1.8 million.

Delivering improved project outcomes that achieve best 
value will continue to be our focus. Our capital infrastructure 
planning emphasises strategies that provide infrastructure to 
meet community needs now and into the future and leverage 
innovative design and technology.

Some $72.7 million of infrastructure improvements were 
completed in 2015–16, including projects delivered for  
$7.4 million less than the approved budget. In addition,  
$1.2 million of savings were achieved through market 
competitive procurement processes and effective project 
management.

Discussions were commenced with DEWS and Queensland 
Treasury on the process and arrangements for the next bulk 
water price path, due from 1 July 2018. This included seeking a 
greater emphasis on assessing the impact of prices on our long 
term financial sustainability. Discussions will continue in  
2016–17, when we expect the next Queensland Competiton 
Authority review will be approved by the Queensland 
Government. 

We collaborated with the department to identify potential 
improvements to the regulatory framework for bulk water 
prices, and in particular, in relation to customer engagement 
and value, drawing from recent reforms in Victoria and the 
United Kingdom. These are preliminary discussions aimed at 
potential reforms in the medium to long term.
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We believe good corporate governance contributes 
to performance excellence by establishing robust 
policies, procedures and processes that encourage 
accountability and manage risk. Good governance is 
essential for stakeholder, customer and community 
satisfaction.

Our Board
The Seqwater Board is responsible for the way we perform 
our functions and exercise our powers under the South East 
Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007. 

The Board’s role is to:

• set strategy and direction, and provide the governance 
framework for the organisation through the endorsement 
of financial, administrative and operational policies

• ensure we perform our functions and exercise our powers 
in a proper, effective and efficient way

• ensure strategic and operational planning objectives are 
achieved

• be accountable to the responsible Ministers for our 
performance

• review the annual performance of the Chief Executive 
Officer.

Board members are appointed for three years. During 2015–16, 
the terms of Mr Noel Faulkner (Chairman), Ms Leith Boully 
(Board Member) and Ms Jenny Parker (Board Member) 
concluded.

Mr Dan Hunt (as Chairman) and Ms Samantha Pidgeon (as 
Board Member) were appointed on 1 October 2015.  
Mr Michael Arnett’s appointment was extended until  
30 September 2016. Mr Shane McGrath continued as a Board 
member.

Eleven Board meetings were held during the period.

In 2016, the Board’s performance was reviewed by an 
independent expert in corporate governance. The Board 
discussed the review outcomes and is implementing associated 
initiatives.

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and senior executives’ 
performance is measured against key performance indicators 
in line with the State Government Policy for Government 
Owned Corporation Chief and Senior Executive Employment 
Agreement. All senior executives participated in a performance 
review process with the CEO. The performance review of the 
CEO has not yet been undertaken. The 2015–16 remuneration 
review process for the CEO and senior executives has not been 
completed. Recommendations in relation to remuneration 
reviews for the senior executives is scheduled to be presented 
to the Board in 2016.

Board members

Mr Dan Hunt (Chairman from October 2015)

Dan has a wealth of experience in public administration, 
change management and stakeholder engagement gained 
during a 38-year career with the Queensland Government. 
Between 2006 and 2015, Dan was the Director-General of 
three departments—Mines and Energy, Natural Resources and 
Mines, and Energy and Water Supply. Before that, he worked 
for many years in senior leadership positions at Queensland 
Transport. Dan is a member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and is a Director of the Australian Water 
Recycling Centre of Excellence Limited.

Mr Michael Arnett

Michael has extensive board and management experience 
in the corporate, commercial, mining and natural resources, 
banking, finance and securities sectors. Michael has been 
a Board member of Unitywater and is a former partner of 
international law firm Norton Rose, predominantly consulting 
in the mining, resources, and oil and gas areas. Michael is a 
Board member of Archipelago Metals Limited, NRW Holdings 
Limited and Queensland Energy Resources Limited.

Corporate governance
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Mr Shane McGrath

Shane is a civil engineer with more than 30 years’ experience 
in the water industry. He has extensive experience in senior 
leadership roles for asset creation and management of water 
supply infrastructure, including major dams, both in Australia 
and overseas. Shane is a Director of SGM Consulting, an 
executive member of the Australian National Committee on 
Large Dams, a member of the Dam Safety Committee of the 
International Commission on Large Dams, a Fellow of the 
Institute of Engineers and a Chartered Professional Engineer.

Ms Samantha Pidgeon (from October 2015)

Samantha is a teacher and education leader with 20 years’ 
experience in schools and education policy, and expertise in 
organisational culture and values, employee development 
and strategic planning. Currently the Vice-President of the 
Queensland Teachers’ Union, Samantha is a member of the 
union’s Executive and Audit Committee and is responsible 
for a broad portfolio. Samantha is also a Director and chairs 
the Business, Finance and Marketing Committee at private 
health insurer TUH. Samantha was previously a member of the 
Governing Body of the Queensland Studies Authority (now the 
Queensland Curriculum and Assessment Authority) and the 
Professional Standards Committee of the Queensland College 
of Teachers.

Mr Noel Faulkner (Chairman until October 2015)

Noel has 38 years’ experience in utilities, combined with  
10 years in government. He has led the integration of a number 
of large businesses in Queensland and Victoria. Noel has been 
involved in South East Queensland’s water reforms since 2007, 
including leading the establishment of the distributor/retailer 
Queensland Urban Utilities. Noel has been a Board member 
of Unitywater, and the Chief Executive Officer of Queensland 
Urban Utilities, Powercor Australia Ltd, United Energy Ltd and 
Capricornia Electricity, as well as holding senior executive roles 
with Brisbane City Council. He is also the Chairman of  
Jacana Energy and Chairman of Mackay Water Advisory Board.

Ms Leith Boully (until October 2015)

Leith has many years’ experience in business and natural 
resource management, particularly water, at local, state 
and national levels. She is Chair of the Australian Water 
Recycling Centre of Excellence and serves on the Boards of 
Murrumbidgee Irrigation Limited and Isis Central Sugar Mill. 
She is also a Director of Australian Water Partners Pty Ltd. 
Leith was formerly Chair of Healthy Waterways, and is the 
current Chair of Sunwater Ltd.

Ms Jenny Parker (until December 2015)

Jenny has significant experience in the provision of governance 
of risk consulting services to government and corporate clients. 
She has been a partner with EY since 1999 and is currently 
the Oceania Advisory Government and Public Sector Leader – 
Health, Human Services and Education for EY. Jenny chairs the 
Audit and Risk Committee of the Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet and the Public Service Commission. She is a 
Fellow of the Chartered Accountants Australia and  
New Zealand.

Board Committees

The Board formed three standing Committees that meet at 
least quarterly:

• Audit and Risk Committee: Dan Hunt (Chair), Samantha 
Pidgeon. Noel Faulkner, Leith Boully and Jenny Parker 
were members of this Committee during the period.

• Investment and Procurement Committee: Michael Arnett 
(Chair), and Shane McGrath.

• People and Culture Committee: Samantha Pidgeon (Chair). 
Dan Hunt, Michael Arnett. Established June 2016.

All Board members are entitled to attend committee meetings. 
The Board may form other committees, however during the 
period it requested any other matter be considered at a whole 
of Board level.
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Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee provided independent 
assurance and assistance to the Board on governance, risk 
and compliance frameworks and our external accountability 
responsibilities as prescribed in the Financial Accountability 
Act 2009 and Accounting Policy Standards. Our internal audit 
function regularly reviewed and tested the effectiveness of the 
system and reported to the Audit and Risk Committee. 

Duties and responsibilities are outlined in the Committee’s 
Charter, and encompass oversight of compliance with all 
mandatory requirements of our corporate governance, 
including:

• financial statements

• risk management

• internal audit

• external audit

• compliance

• reporting to the Board.

The Committee observed the terms of the Charter and followed 
Queensland Treasury’s Audit Committee Guidelines.  
In February 2016, the Board engaged Jenny Parker as a 
consultant regarding audit and risk matters. Jenny attended 
subsequent Audit and Risk Committee meetings in that 
capacity. 

During 2015–16, the Committee considered amendments to 
and compliance with the requirements of the Committee’s 
Charter and oversaw:

• the Enterprise Risk Management Framework

• fraud and corruption control activities, including progress 
against the 2015–16 Fraud and Corruption Control Plan and 
recommendation to the Board of the 2016–17 Fraud and 
Corruption Control Plan

• the Delegations and Authorisation Manual and 
recommendation to the Board of amendments to same

• the annual budget process and financial reporting

Board Member Board Meetings Special Board 
Meetings

Audit and Risk 
Management 
Committee 
Meetings

Investment  and 
Procurement 
Committee 
Meetings

Special 
Investment  and 
Procurement 
Committee

A B A B A B A B A B
Mr Dan Hunt1 8 8 4 4
Mr Michael Arnett 10 10 1 1 6 6 2 2
Mr Shane McGrath 9 10 1 1 6 6 2 2
Ms Samantha Pidgeon1 8 8 4 4
Mr Noel Faulkner2 2 2 0 1 1 1
Ms Leith Boully2 2 2 1 1 1 1
Ms Jenny Parker3 5 5 1 1 2 2
A = Number of meetings attended     B = Number of meetings held / eligible for     

Notes: 

1 Dan Hunt and Samantha Pidgeon were appointed effective 1 October 2015

2 The appointments of Noel Faulkner and Leith Boully ended on 1 October 2015.

3 The appointment of Jenny Parker ended on 31 December 2015.

Board meeting attendance

1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016
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• the internal audit function and considered associated 
reporting, including progress against the 2015–16 Internal 
Audit Plan and recommendation to the Board for approval 
of the 2016–17 Internal Audit Plan 

• the external audit function and consideration of associated 
reporting

• the subsidiary’s financial reporting

• Queensland Treasury Corporation’s management of 
Seqwater’s debt pool

• the review and update of relevant governance policies 
including:

• Code of Conduct

• Gifts and Benefits Policy

• Non-current Assets Valuation Policy

• Treasury Policy.

The Committee also considered our insurance program renewal 
and reviewed the Committee’s performance during the previous 
period and associated reporting to the Board.

Investment and Procurement Committee

The Investment and Procurement Committee reviewed capital 
and operational investment and procurement decisions. The 
Committee ensured we met strategic, corporate and technical 
aspects of asset delivery and operational performance 
objectives, while managing the associated business risks and 
ensuring risk management systems were in place.

The Committee’s role, functions and duties are outlined in its 
Charter. The Committee:

• assesses and oversees implementation of a high quality 
asset investment plan consistent with the strategic plan

• oversees the development and implementation of asset 
delivery and non-infrastructure capital programs and 
maintenance program operations, in line with the strategic 
plan

• ensures strategic procurement objectives are developed 
and implemented through an annual strategy

• ensures compliance with the Queensland Procurement 
Policy

• oversees the establishment and monitoring of appropriate 
operations and service delivery targets for any long 
standing contracts.

The Committee observed the terms of its Charter.  
During 2015–16, the Committee:

• contributed to the update and finalisation of the 
2016 Asset Portfolio Master Plan, which presents an 
integrated suite of infrastructure and non-infrastructure 
improvements needed to meet service requirements and 
manage risk over the next 20 years

• oversaw the delivery of the 2015–16 infrastructure 
improvement program, including consideration of the 
Dam Improvement Program with a focus on efficient and 
effective outcomes

• oversaw the development of the 2016–17 infrastructure 
and non-infrastructure investment program and 
recommended Board approval of same

• considered major capital investment and maintenance 
program business cases and critical supply contracts, 
including monitoring and control systems, electricity 
purchasing, asset upgrades, disposal of assets, and 
recommended Board approval

• used its delegated authority to consider the approval of 
contracts up to a value of $10 million associated with 
Board approved projects

• considered the commercial arrangements for the adoption 
of a collaborative maintenance model in relation to 
Seqwater’s network assets, and recommended Board 
approval of same

• reviewed the Committee’s performance during the previous 
period and associated reporting to the Board.
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People and Culture Committee 

On 27 June 2016, the Minister for Energy and Water Supply 
approved our proposal to establish a People and Culture 
Committee. This committee will provide advice and assistance 
on matters relating to:

• diversity and inclusiveness

• leadership and culture 

• attraction and retention.

Remuneration 

All executive salaries are in accordance with the Policy for 
Government Owned Corporation Chief and Senior Executive 
Employment Arrangements. The executives are responsible for 
the efficient, effective and guaranteed supply of water to South 
East Queensland. Executive salaries can be found on pages 
102-105 of this report. 

Related entities
Seqwater is the host organisation for the Australian Water 
Recycling Centre of Excellence (AWRCE) Ltd.

AWRCE is a national research organisation which aims to 
enhance the efficiency, expansion and acceptance of water 
recycling in Australia through industry, government and 
research partnerships. The centre is a company limited by 
guarantee, with Seqwater its sole member. AWRCE is funded 
by the Commonwealth Government as part of the National 
Urban Water and Desalination Plan.

Seqwater participates in AWRCE research planning as 
a research partner, and provides limited non-financial 
administrative and organisational support.

The funding arrangement with the Commonwealth Government 
is ending during 2016–17. The AWRCE Board has proposed 
to cease business during the period. Accordingly, Seqwater 
as sole member, has requested ministerial approval for this 
to occur and anticipates the AWRCE will be deregistered 
following that action.

Governance
As a Queensland Government statutory authority, we have 
Board approved governance arrangements, which reflect 
the governance requirements in relevant legislation and 
government guidelines. We provided quarterly and annual 
performance reports to our responsible Ministers and worked 
cooperatively with their relevant departments, Queensland 
Treasury and the Department of Energy and Water Supply.

We also have a regulatory relationship with the Department 
of Health (under the Water Fluoridation Act 2008 and Public 
Health Act 2005). From time to time, the delivery of major 
water projects may require us to report, communicate or 
engage with other government departments. We continue to 
work collaboratively with government departments to ensure 
appropriate application of government policies and directives 
to our operations.

Risk
We are committed to assessing and managing risks to achieve 
our objectives. Our Risk Management Policy Statement and 
Enterprise Risk Management Framework, as approved by 
the Board and overseen by the Audit and Risk Committee, 
establishes our process of assessing, rating and managing risks 
and opportunities within the organisation’s appetite. 

The Framework aligns with AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 Risk 
Management Principles and Guidelines and meets the 
requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the 
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009. 

We recognise the importance of organisational culture in the 
success of an enterprise-wide risk management approach and 
continue to embed aligned risk-based thinking across all our 
processes. The following have occurred throughout the year:  

• The Risk Management Policy Statement and Enterprise 
Risk Management Framework are reviewed regularly and 
applied across the business to align our decision making to 
our risk appetite. 

• All Board submissions and proposals include an 
assessment of the risks to our business keeping risk 
information current and relevant.
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• Regular reviews of our risk, opportunities, controls and 
initiatives were conducted throughout the year and 
reported quarterly to the Audit and Risk Committee. 

• Risk assessments and information is integrated into 
strategic and operational planning, project management, 
capital and asset planning, incident and emergency 
response, and business continuity. 

• Enterprise and operational risk information is maintained 
in a central system, enabling ease of reporting, analysis 
and visibility. 

• In-depth reviews were conducted on significant, emerging 
and changing risks to our strategic and operational 
objectives. 

During 2016–17, we will continue our risk maturity journey and 
plan to focus on the following achievements: 

• standardise risk management tools and processes 
to support integration of risk management across all 
management systems 

• review our training programs to focus on cultural and 
behavioural changes needed to embed the Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework 

• integrate a whole of business assurance program for 
greater oversight of control effectiveness throughout the 
business. 

Insurance
We have a Board approved commercial insurance program. As 
part of the annual insurance renewal process, we consulted 
with key stakeholders and reviewed the program’s structure, 
including consideration of our Enterprise Risk Register and any 
emerging risks. This approach ensured our program aligned 
with our key risks, and assures us that our insurance program 
is suitable.

Accountability
We are committed to high standards of integrity, 
professionalism and accountability. Our Code of Conduct and 
values describe the way in which we expect our employees to 
deliver Water for life.

Our Securities Trading and Investments Policy and Procedure 
and Executive and Senior Management Trading/Investment 
Policy were in place to guard against potential conflicts due to 
trading and investments by our officers and management.

Following our employee fraud awareness survey, areas of 
interest were addressed through a program designed to 
increase employee awareness of what constitutes fraud and 
how to identify and report it. This formed part of the 2015–16 
Fraud and Corruption Control Plan. 

Internal audit 
Our internal audit function operates independently, objectively 
and effectively to drive continuous improvement.

We align with Queensland Treasury’s Audit Committee 
Guidelines, the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial 
Performance Management Standard 2009 and the relevant 
aspects of the Government Owned Corporations Governance 
Framework.

The function operated in line with a Board approved Charter 
and was overseen by the Board and the Audit and Risk 
Committee.

Internal audits provide independent, objective assurance 
and help deliver on our purpose by systematically reviewing, 
evaluating and recommending improvements to our risk 
management and governance processes, and internal control 
systems.

Core audit activities were conducted by an independent, 
specialist external service provider.

The status of audit recommendations was reviewed quarterly 
and reported to the Board, the Audit and Risk Committee, the 
Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Leadership Team. 
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In 2015–16 a number of audit engagements were completed 
which resulted in findings and recommendations. Our 
leadership team worked with their teams to implement 
recommendations that will improve the overall efficiency and 
effectiveness of the internal control environment at Seqwater. 

Information systems and 
recordkeeping
We made significant improvements in the way we value, 
manage and access records. We implemented an updated 
records management policy that shifts our records culture to 
one that permits access to all records unless they are excepted 
for security or privacy reasons. 

We updated our archiving, destruction and email procedures 
and rationalised our records and document management 
systems by decommissioning legacy systems and moving all 
records to one platform. 

More than 350 employees underwent an extensive training 
program in records management fundamentals and effective 
use of the eDRMS system. This training will continue in 
2016–17, in conjunction with refresher training, so employee 
record keeping skills are kept up to date.

In 2015–16, we created a four-member information 
management team to manage our records effectively. The 
team drafted a whole of organisation record keeping program 
to manage records in both digital and mobile environments. 
Minimising paper use in record keeping will reduce secondary 
storage costs and decrease the time required to retrieve 
required information. Digital records streamlining systems for 
the management of unstructured information will provide the 
business with further benefits.

We also took steps to verify the authenticity and security of 
our recordkeeping systems. Extensive audits were undertaken 
to validate the records held within the eDRMS by ensuring 
compliance with the Queensland Government’s Information 
Standard 18: Information Security, applying security 
classification labels and implementing an exception only 
approach to restricting access to records. 

Attempts to breach security within the eDRMS are identified 
by the system and notified to the information and records 
management team. 

An archiving program uses a combination of the General 
Records Disposal Schedule 249 v7 and QDAN —717 v1— 
Seqwater Core Business Schedule approved in April 2015 to 
retain and dispose of all records.

Corporate entertainment
We did not hold any single corporate hospitality event during 
2015–16 costing more than $5,000. 

Open data
Information about consultancies and overseas travel will be 
available online in lieu of inclusion in the annual report. This 
information will be available on the Queensland Government 
Open Data website (http://www.qld.gov.au/data). 

Code of Conduct
The community expects the highest standards of performance, 
integrity, accountability and professionalism. We meet these 
obligations by demonstrating our values in everything we 
do. Our Code of Conduct outlines the standards of behaviour 
expected of all of us—employees, contractors and Board 
members. The Code of Conduct is part of our on-boarding 
process for new employees and is available on the intranet for 
existing employees.
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Our organisational structure

General Counsel and 
Company Secretary

Water Supply Strategy 
and Policy

• Policy, Strategy, Research 
and Innovation

• Regulatory and Investment 
Governance

• Water Supply Planning

Asset Portfolio 
Development and Delivery

Operations

Strategy, People 
and Safety

Corporate Finance

• Asset Capability and 
Sustainability

• Asset Planning Engineering 
and Technical Support

• Information Communication 
and Technology

• Program Delivery

• Brand and Customer Insights
• Corporate and Community 

Relations
• Corporate Strategy and 

Transformation
• People and Culture           
• Risk and Assurance
• Workplace Health and Safety

• Commercial Services
• External Audit
• Finance
• Property, Fleet and Facilities

• Northern, Central and Southern 
Operations

• Water Quality, Environment and 
Process Engineering

• Asset Maintenance Services
• Water Source Services
• Contracts and Reporting

• External Relations • Board Administration 
• Fraud and Corruption Control
• Governance and Compliance
• Internal Audit
• Legal and Insurance
• Right to Information
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Executive Leadership Team
Executives provide leadership and direction to our employees 
and ensure we meet our strategic priorities and legislative 
responsibilities. 

As at 30 June 2016, the Executive Leadership Team comprised:

Mr Peter Dennis, Chief Executive Officer

Peter has extensive water sector experience, providing 
leadership across Australia, the Asia-Pacific and New Zealand. 
A chemical engineer by profession, Peter has held executive 
leadership roles at both Hunter Water Corporation and  
Hunter Water Australia. In these roles, there was significant 
focus on strategic planning, capital portfolio management, 
infrastructure planning and delivery, strategic operations and 
water resource management. Peter is a Fellow of Engineers 
Australia and a member of the Mackay Regional Council Water 
Advisory Board.

Mr David Delaporte, Chief Financial Officer

David is a Fellow of CPA Australia (FCPA), with more than 
30 years’ experience in the resources, energy, water and 
manufacturing sectors. In the 10 years before joining Seqwater, 
David served as CFO for Tinguiririca Energia Joint Venture (a 
hydroelectric joint venture based in Chile, South America) and 
Power and Water Corporation (Northern Territory). David has 
experience in management and statutory reporting, strategic 
planning, project finance and lender management, treasury 
and cash management, operational insurance, procurement, 
contracts, risk management and commercial activities.

Ms Sally Frazer, General Counsel and Company 
Secretary

Sally has been a lawyer for more than 25 years, with 13 years’ 
experience in the water industry. She has worked in both the 
private sector and State Government as a senior executive and 
lead departmental lawyer with a focus on legal, governance, 
compliance, risk and company secretarial functions, as well 
as water infrastructure development. Most recently, Sally was 
the General Manager, Legal Services at LinkWater, where 
she was responsible for advising on all legal aspects of the 
water transportation infrastructure network, and also held the 
position of Alliance Board Member for the entities’ construction 
projects. Sally is also the Company Secretary for the Australian 
Water Recycling Centre of Excellence.

Mrs Nikki Poteri-Collie, General Manager, Strategy, 
People and Safety

Nikki joined Seqwater in October 2015 to lead the Strategy, 
People and Safety group. A senior strategy, planning and 
finance executive, Nikki has more than 25 years’ experience 
building the strategic and financial success of large private 
sector businesses across the infrastructure construction and 
services industries. Nikki has worked in the water, electrical 
and telecommunication industries across Australia, most 
recently as General Manager Strategy and Development at 
Thiess Services Pty Ltd.
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Mr Jim Pruss, General Manager, Water Supply Strategy 
and Policy

Jim has more than 30 years’ experience in the water industry. 
He previously led the former Water Delivery, Operations and 
Sustainable Water and Asset Delivery groups within Seqwater. 
He was formerly the General Manager, Water and Waste at 
Redland Shire Council. Jim came to Queensland from New 
South Wales, where he spent 15 years in various technical, 
management and senior roles at Sydney Water.

Mr Daniel Spiller, General Manager, Asset Portfolio 
Development and Delivery

Daniel has extensive experience in infrastructure planning, 
delivering complex projects, as well as a strong understanding 
of the region’s integrated water assets. He was previously 
Seqwater’s Manager, Water Supply and System Planning. His 
background includes time as Director of Operations for the  
SEQ Water Grid Manager and a period as Acting Chief 
Executive of the Queensland Water Commission.

Mr Liam Tobin, General Manager, Operations

Liam has more than 30 years’ experience in the resources, 
manufacturing and oil industries. Most recently, Liam was 
the Director Business Development at QER and before this 
he worked as Refinery Manager at Caltex’s Lytton Refinery 
and Plant Manager at the Boyne Aluminium Smelter. These 
roles required a strong focus on safety leadership, operational 
excellence and operating in a competitive environment. Liam 
previously held the position of Associate Dean of Engineering 
at Central Queensland University, where he was responsible 
for environmental and maintenance management, as well as 
process engineering research and education programs.
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Where does our money come from?  
($818.3 million)
Most of our revenue (97%) comes from the sale of bulk water to  
council-owned water businesses, power stations and others.   
Revenue was up 2% ($13 million) compared to the total revenue  
earning in 2014–15.

Where was the money allocated?  
($1.093 billion)
Total spending in 2015–16 was $1.093 billion compared to  
$1.034 billion in 2014–15. Interest payments on our debt continue 
to account for more than half of our total expenditure.

The next largest expense is depreciation and amortisation at 
25%. The remaining funds represent our dedicated workforce 
costs and operating expenditure, as well as maintenance of 
the $12 billion in water supply assets to ensure the ongoing 
operation and delivery of affordable bulk water drinking water 
our communities.

Economic and financial performance

Water sales  
791,856

Grants and other 
contributions 14, 283

We strive to operate at optimal efficiency ensuring value for money for our stakeholders, customers and communities.   
We are committed to improving our financial performance to make water more affordable.

Income ($000)
2015-16

Other revenue 12,208

Depreciation  
and amortisation  

272,396

Expenses ($000)
2015-16

Finance and 
borrowing costs 
551,814

Employee expenses  
83,102

Supplies 
and services 
145,250

Revaluation 
40,515
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Financial summary 2015-16 2015-16 ($000) 2014-15 ($000)
Total revenue 818, 347 805,148
Total expenses 1,093,077 1,034,087
Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) 277,084 314,940
Net result (loss) before tax (274,730) (228,939)
Income taxation credit adjustment 79,137 66,867
Increase/(decrease) in asset valuation 
surplus

(473, 822) 124,148

Total comprehensive income (669,415) (37,924)

Key financial ratios 2015-16 2014-15
Return on assets before tax (%) (2.38) (1.88)
Return on assets after tax (%) (1.70) (1.31)
Interest coverage (times) 0.5 0.6
Debt to total assets 0.81 0.75
EBIT margin on revenue 0.34 0.39

The Queensland Government approved Seqwater’s application for no payment of dividends or tax equivalents for 2015–16 due to 
the net loss before tax.

The key financial ratios for 2015–16 continue to reflect the high gearing of Seqwater. 

What do we own ($11.5 billion) and what do 
we owe ($9.9 billion)?
Our current assets of $272 million principally represent liquid assets 
for day-to-day operating requirements, including receivables relating 
to the sale of water.

Non-current assets are separated into core long term property, plant 
and equipment assets fundamental to the business, such as land, 
water infrastructure assets ($11.1 billion) and intangible assets such 
as easement rights and software licences ($149 million).

Our current liabilities are what we owe to creditors ($45.6 million), 
to employees in benefits ($10.6 million), to our lender Queensland 
Treasury Corporation ($35.9 million) and to others ($11.5 million) that 
are payable in the next 12 months.

Non-current liabilities are long term borrowings ($9.4 billion) from the 
Queensland Treasury Corporation on our extensive assets. There was 
$328 million of unearned income relating to our government grant for 
construction of the WCRWS.

Total equity  
1,599,652

Non current liabilities 
9,835,319

Total current assets  
271, 627

Non current assets 
11,267,000

Current liabilities 103, 656
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 Notes 2016  2015 
  $000  $000 
Income from continuing operations     
Water sales B1-1 791,856  761,217 
Grants and other contributions B1-2 14,283  14,376 
Other revenue B1-3 11,367  8,960 
Total revenue  817,506  784,553 
     
Other gains - net B2 841  5,733 
Revaluation increment C4-7 -  14,862 
Total income from continuing operations  818,347  805,148 
     
Expenses from continuing operations     
Employee expenses B3 83,102  79,069 
Supplies and services B4 135,704  143,665 
Depreciation and amortisation C4-7,C5-3 272,396  257,268 
Revaluation decrement C4-7 40,515  - 
Finance/borrowing costs B5 551,814  543,879 
Other expenses B6 9,546  10,206 
Total expenses from continuing operations  1,093,077  1,034,087 
Operating result from continuing operations 
before income tax  (274,730)  (228,939) 
Income tax credit  B7 79,137  66,867 
Operating result from continuing operations  (195,593)  (162,072) 
     
Other comprehensive income     
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to  
operating result:     
Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus net 
of tax  (473,822)  124,148 
Total other comprehensive income  (473,822)  124,148 
Total comprehensive income   (669,415)  (37,924) 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 
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 Notes 2016 2015 
  $000 $000 

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents C1 133,309 87,079 
Trade and other receivables C2 121,526 111,261 
Inventories  8,582 7,070 
Other current asset  3,926 3,402 
  267,343 208,812 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale C3 4,284 - 
Total current assets  271,627 208,812 
    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment C4-7 11,117,644 12,031,425 
Intangible assets C5-3 149,356 148,825 

Total non-current assets  11,267,000 12,180,250 
Total assets  11,538,627 12,389,062 
    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables C6 45,623 46,174 
Employee benefits C7 10,654 10,198 
Interest bearing liabilities C8 35,904 35,650 
Other current liabilities C10 11,475 11,892 
Total current liabilities  103,656 103,914 
    
Non-current liabilities    
Trade and other payables C6 109 243 
Employee benefits C7 9,081 8,141 
Interest bearing liabilities C8 9,384,583 9,270,219 
Deferred tax liabilities C9-1 113,871 398,421 
Other non-current liabilities C10 327,675 339,057 
Total non-current liabilities  9,835,319 10,016,081 
Total liabilities  9,938,975 10,119,995 
Net assets  1,599,652 2,269,067 

    
Equity    
Contributed equity  (715,888) (715,888) 
Asset revaluation surplus C11 2,428,821 2,908,114 
Accumulated surplus  (113,281) 76,841 

Total equity  1,599,652 2,269,067 

The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 
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 Accumulated 
surplus/ 
(deficit) 

Asset 
revaluation 

surplus 
Contributed 

equity Total 
  $000 $000 $000 $000 
 
Balance as at 1 July 2014  

 
238,571 2,784,308 (722,854) 2,300,025 

Operating result from continuing 
operations 

 
(162,072) - - (162,072) 

      
Total other comprehensive income:      
- Increase in asset revaluation 

surplus 
 

- 124,148 - 124,148 
- Transfer revaluation surplus as a 

result of disposal of non current 
asset  

 

342 (342) - - 
Transactions with owners as owners      

- contributed equity  - - 6,966 6,966 
Balance as at 30 June 2015  76,841 2,908,114 (715,888) 2,269,067 
 
Balance as at 1 July 2015  76,841 2,908,114 (715,888) 2,269,067 
Operating result from continuing 
operations 

 
(195,593) - - (195,593) 

      
Total other comprehensive income:      
- Decrease in asset revaluation 

surplus  - (473,822) - (473,822) 
- Transfer revaluation surplus as a 

result of disposal of non current 
asset 

 

5,471 (5,471) - - 
Transactions with owners as owners      

- contributed equity  - - - - 
Balance as at 30 June 2016  (113,281) 2,428,821 (715,888) 1,599,652 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 
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  2016  2015 
 Notes $000  $000 
   
Cash flows from operating activities     
Inflows:     
Receipts from water services  783,685  748,577 
Grants received  2,467  3,338 
Interest received  2,493  1,708 
Other revenue  7,183  7,005 
GST collected  24,662  26,519 
Outflows:     
Payments to suppliers and employees  (225,150)  (224,828) 
Finance and borrowing costs  (551,551)  (542,867) 
GST paid  (24,423)  (26,725) 
Other   (1,653)  (1,621) 
Net cash used in operating activities CF - 1 17,713  (8,894) 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Inflows:     
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment  2,184  31,012 
Outflows:     
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (83,129)  (80,670) 
Payments for intangibles  (4,902)  (8,797) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (85,847)  (58,455) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Inflows:     
Borrowings   114,364  110,147 
Net cash provided by financing activities   114,364  110,147 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  46,230  42,798 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  87,079  44,281 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  133,309  87,079 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 
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Notes to the Statement of Cash Flow 
 

CF - 1  Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 
 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Profit /(Loss) for the year (195,593)  (162,072) 
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation 268,179  252,545 
Amortisation of intangible assets 4,217  4,723 
Losses/(gains) on sale of property, plant and 
equipment 1,001  (5,186) 
Income tax credit  (79,137)  (66,867) 
Revaluation decrement/(increment) 40,515  (15,409) 
Doubtful debts expenses 14  96 
Change in assets and liabilities    
Change in trade and other receivables (10,517)  (12,860) 
Change in inventories (1,512)  339 
Change in GST input tax credits receivable 207  (256) 
Change in prepayment (525)  454 
Change in trade and other payables 997  4,892 
Change in provisions and employee benefits 1,397  692 
Change in unearned revenue (11,816)  (11,039) 
Change in interest payable 254  1,003 
Change in GST payable 32  51 
Net cash from operating activities 17,713  (8,894) 
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A1  Basis of financial statement preparation  
 
A1-1  Reporting entity 
The Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority (the Entity) is a Statutory Body under the Financial 
Accountability Act 2009, the Statutory Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982 and has been established 
under the South East Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007. The Entity expires at the end of 99 
years from when it was established on 16 November 2007. The State of Queensland is the successor in 
law at the expiry date. The Entity is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent. 
The head office and principal place of business of the Entity is Level 8, 117 Brisbane Street, Ipswich QLD 
4305. 
The financial statements include the value of all revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity of the 
Entity and the entity that it controls, where this entity is material.  
 
A1-2  Statement of compliance 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with: 

� applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including Australian Interpretations) adopted 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB); 

� the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009; 
� Queensland Treasury’s Minimum Reporting Requirements for reporting periods beginning on or 

after 1 July 2015; and 
� other authoritative pronouncements. 

 
A1-3  Going concern 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Board supports the going 
concern basis as appropriate on the basis that there is a reasonable expectation that the Entity will be 
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due for at least the next twelve months from the date of signing 
these financial statements for the following reasons: 

� the Board relies on the Queensland Government’s commitment to ensuring the solvency and 
ongoing viability of the Entity. This commitment was affirmed in a letter from the Hon. Curtis Pitt 
MP, Treasurer, Minister for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Partnerships and Minister for Sport 
and the Hon. Mark Bailey MP, Minister for Main Roads, Road Safety and Ports and Minister for 
Energy, Biofuels and Water Supply issued to the Entity on 27 June 2016. This letter is effective 
from 30 June 2016 to 31 August 2017. 

� The Government’s support for the Entity will include facilitating the provision of funding facilities 
through Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) to ensure the availability of funds to meet: 

o the working capital and capital works requirement of the Entity; 
o the financial commitments of the Entity under bulk supply agreements with its customers; 

and 
o the financial commitments and obligations incurred by the Entity as a result of the pricing 

structure, including any variations to funding requirements arising from the bulk water 
price path.  

                                                   SECTION 1 
ABOUT THE ENTITY AND THIS FINANCIAL REPORT  
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A1  Basis of financial statement preparation (continued) 
 
A1-3  Going concern (continued) 

� The Government’s commitment given in this regard is provided on the basis that any funding made 
available to the entity is consistent with arrangements agreed under Seqwater’s Operational and 
Strategic Plans, or as otherwise approved by the responsible Ministers under the South East 
Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007 or other applicable legislation (notably, the Statutory 
Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982); 

� The Government accepted the recommendations of the Queensland Competition Authority’s (QCA) 
Final Report SEQ Bulk Water Price Path 2015-18 that provide certainty to the Entity in regard to 
prices for the period 1 July 2015 until 30 June 2018, and further support the expectation the Entity 
will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due; and  

� as at 30 June 2016, the Entity has an approved working capital facility from QTC amounting to 
$200 million (refer to Note C8-2) of which $0 has been drawn at 30 June 2016, and has a cash 
balance of $133 million at 30 June 2016 (refer to Note C1). 

 
A1-4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in 
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements are found in the following notes: 
  

Impairment D1-5 Impairment testing for cash 
generating unit 

Fair value D1  
          C4 

Fair value measurement  
Valuation of property, plant 
and equipment including key 
estimates and judgements 

Income tax and utilisation of tax losses C9 Tax assets and liabilities 

 

A1-5  Basis of measurement 
Historical cost is used as the measurement basis in the financial report except for the following:   

� Land, building and infrastructure assets which are measured at fair value; and  
� Provisions expected to be settled 12 or more months after reporting date which are measured at 

their present value.  
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A1  Basis of financial statement preparation (continued) 
 
A1-6 Goods and services tax (GST) 
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).  In these circumstances, the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.  The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the Statement of 
Financial Position.  
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
are classified as operating cash flows. 
 
A1-7 Presentation  
Currency and rounding 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Entity’s functional currency. 
Amounts included in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 or, where that 
amount is $500 or less, to zero, unless disclosure of the full amount is specifically required.  
 
Comparatives 
Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be consistent with disclosure in the 
current reporting period. 
 
Current/non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are classified as either ‘current’ or ‘non-current’ in the Statement of Financial 
Position and associated notes. 
Assets are classified as ‘current’ where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within 12 months 
after the reporting date. Liabilities are classified as “current” when they are due to be settled within 12 
months after the reporting date, or the Entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement to 
beyond 12 months after the reporting date. 
All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. 
 

A1-8 Authorisation of financial statements for issue 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board on 9 September 2016. 
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A2 Objectives of Seqwater  
 
The Entity is primarily involved in the supply of water services and carrying out water activities. 
As set out in the South East Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007 the Entity must carry out its 
functions as a commercial enterprise. The Entity meets the definition of a for profit entity for the purposes 
of the accounting standards.  
 
A3 Controlled entities 
 
Australian Water Recycling Centre of Excellence Ltd (AWRCoE) is the only subsidiary controlled by the 
Entity. AWRCoE is a not for profit public company, incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a 
company limited by guarantee. The Entity is the sole member of AWRCoE, provides guarantee to the 
value of $100, and has acted in a custodian arrangement since 1 July 2011.  
If AWRCoE is wound up, the constitution states that the Entity is required to contribute a maximum of 
$100 towards meeting any outstanding obligations.  
As the transactions of AWRCoE are not considered material, it is not consolidated with the Entity’s 
financial statements. 

Parent and ultimate controlling party 

Country of 
establishment 
/incorporation Ownership interest 

Entity   
Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority Australia  
Subsidiary   
Australian Water Recycling Centre of Excellence 
Limited Australia 100% 

 
  Summary financial information about AWRCoE is as follows: 
 
 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Total income 83  1,265 
Total expenses 4,229  6,783 
Total comprehensive income (4,146)  (5,518) 
    
Total current assets  2,087  6,607 
Total current liabilities 1,491  1,865 
Net assets 596  4,742 

 
The Entity provided in kind contributions (rent, corporate services) to AWRCoE of $105,560 (2015: 
$63,367). 
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B1 Revenue 
 
Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable.  
 
B1-1 Water sales 
The Entity receives water sales revenue direct from the South East Queensland local water retailers, local 
government councils, power stations and other industrial and rural customers.  
The charges for rural irrigation water are calculated based on two part tariff charges. Part A relates to 
fixed costs based on water allocation volume and is applied quarterly in advance and Part B represents 
the charge for water used based on meter readings for the previous quarter.  
Water sales revenue is accrued on a monthly basis. 

 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Water sales - water grid 788,794  758,289 
Water sales - irrigation 3,062  2,928 
Total 791,856  761,217 
 
B1-2 Government grants and other contributions 
Government grants and contributions are recognised initially as deferred income when there is 
reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Entity will comply with the conditions 
associated with the grant.  Grants and contributions that compensate the Entity for expenses incurred are 
recognised in profit and loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are 
recognised.  
In 2010, the Entity received $408 million capital grants from the Commonwealth department for the 
construction of Western Corridor Recycled Water assets. The $408 million was recognised initially as 
deferred income and is recognised in profit and loss ($11.38 million) on a systematic basis over the useful 
life of the asset (refer to Note C-10). 
The Entity receives CSO payments from the Queensland government in two parts. The rural water 
payment is for the provision of rural irrigation water to rural irrigators. The water planning development 
payment is for the activities to ensure compliance with regulatory and policy areas of resource 
management. 

 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Community Service Obligation (CSO) 2,111  2,154 
Government grant  12,172  12,222 
Total 14,283  14,376 
 

                                                   SECTION 2 
                      NOTES ABOUT OUR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
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B1 Revenue (continued) 
B1-3  Other revenue  

 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Interest 2,533  1,703 
Other  8,834  7,257 
Total 11,367  8,960 

 
 

B2 Other gains - net 
 2016  2015 

 $000  $000 
Gains on disposal - net -  5,186 
Other 841  547 
Total 841  5,733 

 
 



Seqwater | Annual Report 2015–16 64

Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2016 
 

15 
 

B3 Employee benefit expenses 
 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Employee benefits    
Wages and salaries 61,797  61,309 
Annual leave expenses 6,311  5,604 
Long service leave expenses 1,667  (641) 
Employer superannuation contribution 7,583  7,334 
Employee related expenses    
Workers' compensation premium 210  172 
Payroll tax 3,502  3,534 
Other employee related expenses 2,032  1,757 
Total 83,102  79,069 
 
Employee benefits 
Employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided.  
Employer superannuation contributions, annual leave and long service leave are regarded as employee 
benefits.  
 
Employee related expenses  
Payroll tax and workers’ compensation insurance are a consequence of employing employees and are 
not counted in an employee’s total remuneration package. They are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as employee related expenses. 
 
Superannuation schemes   
The Entity currently contributes to QSuper for employees under both defined benefit and accumulation 
superannuation schemes. QSuper is a superannuation scheme for Queensland Government employees, 
the contribution rates were determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the State Actuary. Contributions 
are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable.  
The Entity’s obligation is limited to its contribution to QSuper. The QSuper scheme has defined benefit 
and defined contribution categories. The liability for defined benefits is held on a whole-of-government 
basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and 
General Government Sector Financial Reporting.   
The Entity contributes to LGIAsuper for employees under both defined benefit scheme and accumulation 
superannuation scheme. Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable.  
The Entity has no liability to or interest in LGIAsuper other than the payment of the statutory contribution. 
Any amount by which either scheme is over or under funded would only affect future benefits and is not 
an asset or liability of the Entity at this time. Accordingly, there is no recognition in the financial 
statements of any over-or-under funding of LGIAsuper.   
The number of employees including both full time employees and part time employees measured on a full 
time equivalent basis as at 30 June are: 
Number of employees 2016  2015* 
       Permanent employees 582  583 
       Fixed term employees 115  73 
       Total 697  656 
* The 2015 comparative has been restated to include the fixed term employees.  
 
Key management personnel and remuneration disclosures are detailed in Note E1.  
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B4 Supplies and services     
 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Labour hire 3,446  5,555 
Consultancies and contractors* 16,832  16,091 
Operational contracts 16,194  22,278 
Energy 20,674  19,828 
Information technology and communications 8,416  8,895 
Repairs and maintenance – dams and weirs 2,924  5,150 
Repairs and maintenance – water treatment plants 6,601  7,912 
Repairs and maintenance – pipelines and other 13,196  11,514 
Chemicals and treatment 18,868  19,640 
Legal 7,948  5,708 
Supplies and consumables 15,481  15,557 
Bulk water service purchase payment  3,795  4,268 
Other expenses 1,329  1,269 
Total 135,704  143,665 
 * Includes specialists for engineering, project management, environmental and asset management, accounting and 
economic advice.  
 
B5 Finance /borrowing costs 
 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Interest paid or payable to QTC 551,782  543,086 
Other financial costs 32  793 
Total 551,814  543,879 
 
Finance/borrowing costs comprise: 

� interest expense on bank overdrafts, short-term and long-term borrowings; 
� unwinding of the discount on provisions; 
� amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings; and 
� ancillary administration charges. 

Finance/borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss using the effective interest method and are 
expensed in the period in which they arise. Finance/borrowing costs that are not settled in the period in 
which they arise are added to the carrying amount of the borrowing. 
Finance/borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the 
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
No borrowing costs are capitalised into qualifying assets. 
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B6 Other expenses 
 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Insurance 5,218  6,605 
External audit fees* 325  335 
Rates and taxes 2,129  2,069 
Losses on disposal - net 1,001  - 
Other 873  1,197 
Total 9,546  10,206 
* Total audit fees quoted by the Queensland Audit office relating to the 2015-16 financial statements are $325k 
(2015: $339k). There are no non-audit services included in this amount. 

   
B7 Income tax equivalents 
The difference between income tax expense provided in the financial statements and the prima facie 
income tax expense is reconciled as follows: 

 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Loss before income tax (274,730)  (228,939) 
Prima facie income tax thereon at 30% (82,419)  (68,682) 
Less:    
Tax impact of transferred council provision for 
employee benefits recognised  -  (152) 

  Recognition of tax losses -  - 
Add:    
 Tax impact of revaluations on disposals -  147 
  Recognition of under/over tax provision 455  - 
  Recognition of temporary differences 1,560  251 
  Depreciation difference on transferred council            
assets 1,262  1,262 

  Non deductible expenses 5  3 
Total income tax credit (79,137)  (66,867) 

 
The Entity has been a participant in the NTER from the date of establishment.  As a result an “equivalent” 
or “notional income tax” liability is payable to Queensland Treasury for payment into the consolidated 
fund. Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax expense/(credit) is recognised 
in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is 
recognised in equity. 
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C1 Cash and cash equivalents 
 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Bank balances 39,294  15,920 
Short term deposits 94,015  71,159 
Total 133,309  87,079 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are reported as part of short-term borrowings in current liabilities in the Statement of Financial 
Position.  

 
C2 Trade and other receivables  

 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Trade debtors - retail 111,505  101,390 
Trade debtors - other 7,063  6,684 
Less: Provision for impairment (171)  (181) 
 118,397  107,893 
    
GST receivable 3,376  3,582 
GST payable (247)  (214) 
 3,129  3,368 
Total 121,526  111,261 

 
Trade and other receivables  
Receivables are recognised at the amounts due at the time of sale of service delivery i.e. the agreed 
purchase/contract price. Settlement of those amounts is required within 30 days from invoice date.  
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for 
any impairment of receivables. Short term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the 
original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.  
 
Impairment of receivables 
An allowance for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Entity 
will not be able to collect all amounts due. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective 
interest rate. Bad debts are written off as incurred. 

                                                  SECTION 3 
NOTES ABOUT OUR FINANCIAL POSITION 
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C2    Trade and other receivables (continued) 
 
Impairment of receivables (continued) 
The collectability of receivables is assessed periodically with provision being made where receivables are 
impaired. The method of calculating any provisional impairment for risk is based on past experience. All 
known bad debts were written-off as at 30 June. 
No financial assets have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or 
impaired, and are stated at the carrying amount as indicated. 
 
Individually impaired receivable position (aged) 
            2016          2015 
                                                                                             Gross Impairment  Gross Impairment 
Receivables $000 $000  $000 $000 
Past due 31- 60 days - -  7 - 
Past due 61- 90 days 16 -  9 - 
More than 90 days 295 (171)  380 (181) 
Total 311 (171)  396 (181) 

 
 
Movement in allowance for impairment for impaired receivables 
            2016          2015 
                                                                                             $000  $000 
Balance at 1 July (181)  (99) 
Increase/decrease in allowance recognised in operating result (14)  (96) 
Amount written-off during the year in respect of bad debts 24  14 
Total overdue (171)  (181) 

 



Seqwater | Annual Report 2015–1669

Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2016 
 

20 
 

C3 Non – current assets held for sale 
 
Non-current assets held for sale consist of those assets that management has determined are available 
for immediate sale in their present condition, for which their sale is highly probable within the next twelve 
months. 
Under AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, when an asset is 
classified as held for sale, its value is measured at the lower of the asset’s carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell. Any restatement of the asset’s value to fair value less costs to sell is a non-recurring 
valuation. Such assets are no longer amortised or depreciated upon being classified as held for sale.  
 

 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Land  3,982  - 
Building 302  - 
Total 4,284  - 

 
Due to being operationally efficient and reducing the annual maintenance costs on the under-utilised land 
assets, management has approved to sell 22 parcels of freehold land that are surplus to the Entity’s 
operational needs and suitable for disposal.  
Following the completion of the Entity’s property portfolio review, management has decided to sell two 
houses including ancillary improvements at Maroon Dam. Negotiations have commenced with one of the 
Queensland Government departments who provided a formal offer in June 2016. 
For the assets described above, the valuations reflect fair value less costs to sell, as that was lower than 
carrying amount at the time of meeting the “held for sale” criteria. 
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C4 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense 
 
C4-1 Recognition thresholds  
Items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value equal to or in excess of the following 
thresholds are recognised for financial reporting purposes in the year of acquisition:   

Land  $1 

Building  $10,000 

Infrastructure $10,000 

Plant and Equipment $5,000 

Items with lesser value are expensed in the year of acquisition. 
Land improvements are to be included in either the class building or the class infrastructure based on 
their proximity to the asset to which they relate. 
The Entity has a comprehensive annual maintenance program for its building and infrastructure assets. 
Expenditure is only capitalised if it increases the service potential or useful life of the existing asset. 
Maintenance expenditure that merely restores original service potential (arising from ordinary wear and 
tear) is expensed. 
 
C4-2 Acquisition of assets 
Each class of property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at cost. Assets acquired in exchange 
for other non-monetary assets or assets acquired at a nominal consideration are initially recognised at 
cost. On initial recognition, all costs incurred in purchasing or constructing the asset and getting it ready 
for use are capitalised to the value of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of 
materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working 
condition for its intended use and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site 
on which they are located. 
Costs incurred subsequent to the initial asset purchase are capitalised when the expenditure improves 
the condition of the asset beyond its originally assessed standard of performance or capacity. Outlays 
that do not meet the criteria for recognition as an asset are expensed in the financial year. 
 
C4-3 Measurement using historical cost 
Plant and equipment is measured at historical cost in accordance with the Non-Current Assets Policies 
for the Queensland Public Sector. The carrying amount for plant and equipment is not materially different 
from their fair value.  
Separately identified components of assets are measured on the same basis as the assets to which they 
relate. 
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C4 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 
 
C4-4 Measurement using fair value 
Land, buildings and infrastructure are measured at fair value in accordance with AASB 116 Property, 
Plant and Equipment, AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current Asset 
Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. These assets are reported at their revalued amounts, being 
the fair value at the date of valuation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses where applicable. 
The Entity operates on a commercial basis, with the primary objective being the generation of cash 
inflows. Where there is no market price for the asset, fair value is either the depreciated replacement cost 
or the net present value of the cash flows from the asset. 
If the asset does not generate cash inflows independent from a group of assets then the fair value will be 
either the sum of the depreciated replacement cost of the group of assets or the fair value of the group of 
assets using an income approach. 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the entire class of property, plant and 
equipment to which the asset belongs is revalued. 
The Entity has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This 
includes a valuation team that oversees all significant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair 
values, and reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO).  Discussions of valuation processes and 
results are held between the CFO and the Audit and Risk Committee at least once a year in line with the 
Entity’s annual reporting dates.  
The fair values reported by the Entity are based on appropriate valuation techniques that maximise the 
use of available and relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs (refer to 
Note D1).  
Revaluation increments in respect of each individual non-current asset are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and asset revaluation surplus, except to the extent that it reverses a previous 
decrement recognised as an expense for that individual asset in profit or loss.  In this instance the 
reversal portion of the increment is recognised as revenue in profit or loss. Revaluation decrements in 
respect of each asset are recognised as an expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that it reverses 
a previous increment for that asset and a positive balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus for that 
asset. In this instance, the reversal portion of the decrement is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and asset revaluation surplus. 
On revaluation: 

� for assets revalued using a cost valuation approach (e.g. depreciated replacement cost) – 
accumulated depreciation is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross amount and 
carrying amount, after taking into account accumulated impairment losses. This is generally 
referred to as the “ gross method”; and  

� for assets revalued using a market or income-based valuation approach – accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses are eliminated against the gross amount of the 
asset prior to restating for the revaluation. This is generally referred to as the “net method”.   
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C4 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 
 
C4-5 Depreciation 

 Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life. 
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the net  cost or 
revalued amount of each asset, less its estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated useful 
life.  
Assets under construction (work-in-progress) are not depreciated until they reach service delivery 
capacity. Service delivery capacity relates to when construction is complete and the asset is first put to 
use or installed ready for use in accordance with its intended application. These assets are then 
reclassified to the relevant classes within property, plant and equipment. 
Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these 
components are assigned useful lives distinct from the asset to which they relate and are depreciated 
accordingly. 
Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is 
capitalised and the new depreciable amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset. 
Major spares purchased specifically for particular assets are capitalised and depreciated on the same 
basis as the asset to which they relate. 
 
The estimated useful lives applied for the current and comparative periods are as follows:       

Class of Fixed Asset Useful Life 

Buildings 5 - 40 years 

Infrastructure  

   Dams and weirs 10 - 150 years 

   Water treatment plants 5 - 100 years 

   Pipelines and others         5 - 150 years 

Plant and equipment  

   Motor vehicles and boats 3 - 15 years 

   Recreation facilities 3 - 60 years 

   Other equipment   3 - 15 years 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. Gains and 
losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and 
losses are included in profit or loss. 
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C4 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 
 
C4-6 Impairment of non-current assets 
The carrying amounts of the Entity’s non-current physical and intangible assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If an indicator of possible 
impairment exists, the Entity determines the asset’s recoverable amount.  
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair 
value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset.  For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”).  
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a 
revalued amount. When the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset 
against the asset revaluation surplus of the relevant asset to the extent available. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to the carrying amount of 
the assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that 
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
When an asset is revalued using either a market or income valuation approach, any accumulated 
impairment losses at that date are eliminated against the gross amount of the asset prior to restating for 
the revaluation. 
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C4    Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 
 
C4-8 Valuation of property, plant and equipment including key estimates and judgements  
The Board has adopted the following policies in respect of the measurement of fair value:  

Class Method of measurement of fair value  
Frequency of 

measurement * 
Land Professional valuation – market value 5 years 

Buildings 
Professional valuation – market value / depreciation 

replacement cost 5 years 
Infrastructure Board adopted valuation – income approach 5 years 

*Valuations are more frequent where the Board considers that there are indicators that period-end carrying values 
materially differ to their fair values. 
 
Land 
Land was valued by an internal professional valuer during December 2015 and June 2016 with an 
effective date of 30 June 2016.  The valuations were performed using the fair value principle by reference 
to observable prices in an active market as well as recent market transactions on an arm’s length basis.  
A random sample of 5% of the valuation results were audited by an external valuation professional, 
Herron Todd White, to certify appropriate methodology and practice has been adhered to.  
Additions since the time of the independent valuations have been recorded at cost. 
Land with a total value of $26,123,745 (2015: $63,041,128) representing reserve land is not included in 
the carrying value of land.  That land is retained by the Crown, however, the economic benefit of the land 
accrues to the Entity and the land is administered by the Entity on behalf of the Department of Natural 
Resources and Mines (held in their Statement of Financial Position). 
Comprehensive revaluation by professional valuer is undertaken every 5 years.  
 
Buildings 
Office buildings and rental properties were valued by an internal professional valuer and external 
valuation professional, Australis Asset Advisory Group with an effective date of 30 June 2016.  The 
valuations were performed using the fair value principles: 

� where an “active liquid market” is available for an asset, that market price represents the best 
evidence of an assets fair value; and  

� where an “active liquid market” for the asset does not exist, the best indication of its fair value is 
“depreciated replacement cost”.  

Additions since the time of the independent valuations have been recorded at cost. 
Comprehensive revaluation and condition assessment by professional valuer are undertaken every 5 
years. 
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C4    Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 
 
C4-8 Valuation of property, plant and equipment including key estimates and judgements 

(continued) 
Infrastructure assets 
An income based approach to fair value (adopting market participant principles as required by accounting 
standard AASB13 Fair Value Measurement) was undertaken as at 30 June 2016. An income approach is 
a valuation technique that converts future amounts (e.g. cash flows or income and expenses) to a single 
current (i.e. discounted) amount. The fair value measurement is determined on the basis of the value 
indicated by current market expectations about those future amounts. 
The following key estimates and judgements have been applied in the income based approach valuation:  

� the most likely demand forecast for physical sales projections and ongoing levels of service 
requirements;  

� estimated future cash flows, based on management’s estimate, have been projected over 40 
years and discounted to their present value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset; 

� the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) discount rate of 5.8% (2015: 6.1%) has been 
used to discount cash flows and has been developed from a market participant perspective;   

� cash flows have been adjusted to reflect potential synergies that a market participant may 
derive from the acquisition of the Entity’s assets;  

� future capital expenditure and related revenues relating to restructuring or improving asset 
performance have been included in the cash flows, including forecast expenditure on water 
supply augmentation from the financial year 2028 as set out in the specifically, the South East 
Queensland’s Water Security Program 2015-2045. This augmentation was not included in the 
prior year’s valuation as it was approved in October 2015; 

� fixed and variable operational expenditure derived from the Board approved 2016-17 Budget, 
extrapolated post financial year 2017 based on forecast production; and 

� the projected regulatory asset base value (at a multiple of 1) has been used to compute the 
terminal value of the valuation.    

 
The following pricing scenarios and weightings have been applied in the computed valuation of 
infrastructure assets. This represents a change from the prior year single pricing scenario of escalating 
2.5 per cent CPI into perpetuity post financial year 2028.  
 
In the context of the pricing scenarios, the current intention is to continue the bulk water price path which 
incorporates the repayment of Water Grid Manager Debt by financial year 2028.   
 

Pricing 
scenario 

Scenario assumptions Weighting 

1 
QCA bulk water price path (including FY2019 reset) to FY2028, then annual 
CPI increases (2.5% pa) 50% 

2 
QCA bulk water price path (including FY2019 reset) to FY2028, then glide 
path at 1.25% pa until full maximum allowable revenue reversion price path 
reached 

40% 

3 
QCA bulk water price path (including FY2019 reset ) to FY2028, then full 
maximum allowable revenue reversion from FY2029 10% 
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C4    Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 
 
C4-8 Valuation of property, plant and equipment including key estimates and judgements 

(continued) 
Inherent uncertainty 
The current methodology for a market participant fair value calculation and management estimates 
contains estimation uncertainty relating to:  

� pricing regulation post 2028 and the weighted pricing scenarios; 
� impacts of unforeseen droughts and floods to management estimates; 
� impacts of unforseen future population and consumptions projections; 
� the level of service obligations of a market participant in relation to expected capital augmentation 

outlays; and 
� the restricted freedom of utilisation of the infrastructure asset base.  

Management have used the most reasonable assumptions and estimates available at this time, as the 
basis for the fair value modelling. 
The income based valuation results in a value of the Entity as a whole. After deducting other non-current 
assets (land, buildings, plant and equipment, work in progress and Intangible assets), the remaining value 
has been apportioned to individual infrastructure assets on the basis of their depreciated replacement 
cost or cost.   
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C5    Intangible assets  
 
C5-1 Recognition of intangible assets 
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Entity are initially measured at cost.  
Items of intangible assets with a cost or other value equal to or in excess of the following thresholds are 
recognised for financial reporting purposes in the year of acquisition: 

Land easement $1 

Software purchased $100,000 

Other intangible $100,000 

Items with a lesser value are expensed in the year of acquisition.  
Where there is an active and liquid market, intangible assets are carried at a revalued amount; otherwise 
they are carried at cost after initial recognition. If revalued, the same rules apply as to those for property, 
plant and equipment.  
It has been determined that there is not an active market for any of the Entity’s intangible assets. As such, 
the assets are recognised and carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses where applicable.  
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in 
the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in the profit or loss. 
Intangible assets are subject to amortisation and impairment testing. 
 
C5-2 Amortisation 
Amortisation is recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
intangible assets from the date that they are available for use.  
The estimated useful lives applied for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

   
Class of Intangible Asset Useful Life 

Land easements                                        70 – 150 years 

Software purchased                                   5 years 

Other intangible                                          40 years 
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C6 Trade and other payables 
 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Current     
Trade and other payables 45,623  46,174 
Total 45,623  46,174 
    

Non current     
Other payables 109  243 
Total 109  243 

 
Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the 
agreed purchase/contract price, gross of applicable trade and other discounts. Amounts owing are 
unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms. 
 
C7 Employee benefits 

 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Current    
Salaries and wages accrued 4,484  4,678 
Liability for long service leave 1,219  897 
Liability for annual leave 4,951  4,623 
Total 10,654  10,198 
Non current    
Liability for long service leave 7,475  6,639 
Liability for annual leave 1,606  1,502 
Total 9,081  8,141 

 
Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave 
Liabilities for short-term employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave represent present 
obligations resulting from employees’ services provided to the reporting date and are calculated at 
undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and salary rates that the Entity expects to pay as at 
the reporting date, including applicable related on-costs.  
For those entitlements not expected to be paid within 12 months, the liabilities are classified as non-
current liabilities and recognised at their present value, calculated using yields on fixed rate 
Commonwealth Government Bonds of similar maturity. 
  
Long service leave 
The long service leave provision represents the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be 
made resulting from employees’ services provided to balance date. The current provision is calculated 
using the ‘‘shorthand measurement techniques” whereby 89% (2015: 82%) valuation factor is applied to 
the aggregate accrued long service leave liability. The valuation factor is reviewed periodically by Mercer 
Consulting (Australia) Pty Ltd, an independent actuarial firm, to ensure that it remains appropriate. The 
last valuation date is 30 June 2016.   
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C8  Interest bearing liabilities  
 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Current     
QTC - Loans interest payable 35,819  35,565 
QTC - Redraw facility fees 85  85 
Total 35,904  35,650 

    
Non current     
QTC - Loans 10,064,335  9,949,971 
QTC - Redraw facility (679,752)  (679,752) 
Total 9,384,583  9,270,219 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, plus any transaction costs directly attributable to the 
borrowings, and then subsequently held at amortised cost using the effect interest method.  
Any borrowing costs are added to the carrying amount of the borrowing to the extent they are not settled 
in the period in which they arise. Borrowings are split between current and non-current liabilities using the 
principles set out in the foreword and preparation information section of this financial report. 
The amount in the Redraw Facility (Facility) offsets the Entity’s debt balance.  The Facility will be 
cancelled on 30 April 2018. The Entity agrees not to make any deposit or redraw during the period from 
30 June 2015 until the cancellation date.  On the cancellation date, the Entity agrees all monies in the 
Facility will be applied against the relevant loan; no market value realisation will apply to the transaction.  
No assets have been pledged as security for any liabilities. 
All borrowings are in Australian dollar denominated amounts with interest being expensed as it accrues, 
except for assets under construction (refer to Note B5).  There have been no defaults or breaches of the 
loan agreement during the year. There is no early debt repayment planned. 
Loan interest is payable monthly in arrears on the first day of the new month.  
Balances of outstanding loans were as follows: 

2016 
Carrying amount 

 

 
$000 

 
QTC – Seqwater - Water Grid Debt  2,148,880 
QTC – Seqwater - Drought Assets Debt 5,410,472 
QTC – Seqwater - Non-Drought Assets Debt 1,861,050 
Total 9,420,402 

 
   
Loans interest payable  35,819 
Loans principal  10,064,335 
Redraw facility  (679,752) 
Total  9,420,402 

The Weighted Average Borrowing Rate for QTC borrowings as at 30 June 2016 is 5.87% (2015: 5.93%). 
Interest payments are made monthly in arrears at rates ranging from 5.33% to 6.32% (2015: 5.55% to 
6.34%).  
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C8  Interest bearing liabilities (continued) 
C8-1 Funding facilities  

 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Drawn 114,364  110,147 
Unused 1,429  50,546 
Total Facility 115,793  160,693 

 
The State Borrowing Program funding application is submitted annually by the Entity and is approved by 
the Queensland Government. The funding facility is maintained by QTC. 

 
C8-2 Credit standby arrangement 
 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Drawn -  - 
Unused 200,000  180,000 
Total Facility 200,000  180,000 

 
On 16 August 2015, the approved overdraft facility with the QTC was increased from a limit of $180 
million to $200 million. This facility remains fully undrawn at 30 June 2016 and is available for use in the 
next reporting period. The current overdraft interest rate is 2.05% (2015: 2.05%) 
 
C9 Tax assets and liabilities  
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. 
Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes.  Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent 
that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
A deferred tax asset (DTA) is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which temporary differences can be utilised.  DTAs are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.  
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C9 Tax assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
C9-1 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

2016 Assets Liabilities Net 
 $000 $000 $000 
Property, plant and equipment - (1,247,769) (1,247,769) 
Provision for employee benefits 4,684 - 4,684 
Tax losses 1,027,698 - 1,027,698 
Government grant 101,737 - 101,737 
Inventory - (733) (733) 
Accrued expenses 512 - 512 
Total tax assets/(liabilities) 1,134,631 (1,248,502) (113,871) 
    
2015 Assets Liabilities Net 
 $000 $000 $000 
Property, plant and equipment - (1,492,222) (1,492,222) 
Provision for employee benefits 4,372 - 4,372 
Tax losses 983,620 - 983,620 
Government grant 105,282 - 105,282 
Accrued expenses 527 - 527 
Total tax assets/(liabilities) 1,093,801 (1,492,222) (398,421) 
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C9  Tax assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
C9-2 Movement in temporary differences during the year 
 

2015 

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss 
Acquired 
in equity 2016 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Property, plant and equipment (1,492,222) 39,040 205,413 (1,247,769) 
Provision for employee benefits 4,372 312 - 4,684 
Tax losses 983,620 44,078 - 1,027,698 
Government grant 105,282 (3,545) - 101,737 
Inventory - (733) - (733) 
Accrued expenses 527 (15) - 512 
Total (398,421) 79,137 205,413 (113,871) 

 
 

2014 

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss 
Acquired 
in equity 2015 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Property, plant and equipment (1,457,875) 18,858 (53,205) (1,492,222) 
Borrowings (227) 227 - - 
Provision for employee benefits 4,672 (300) - 4,372 
Tax losses 932,041 51,579 - 983,620 
Government grant 108,844 (3,562) - 105,282 
Accrued expenses 462 65 - 527 
Total (412,083) 66,867 (53,205) (398,421) 

 
C9-3 Tax losses 
A DTA is recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 
be available against which they can be utilised.  DTAs are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
During the year ended 30 June 2016, $0 of tax losses were utilised (2015: $0) with tax losses carried 
forward at 30 June 2016 amounting to $3,426 million (2015: $3,106 million). A DTA of $1,028 million has 
been recognised in relation to theses carry tax losses as it is considered probable that future taxable 
profits will be generated against which the tax losses could be utilised.   
 
C9-4 Current and non-current deferred tax 

 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Current assets/(liabilities) 2,581  2,457 
Non-current assets/(liabilities) (116,452)  (400,878) 
Total (113,871)  (398,421) 
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C10 Other liabilities 
 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Current    
Unearned revenue - government grant 11,382  11,382 
Unearned revenue - other 66  500 
Other 27  10 
Total 11,475  11,892 
    
Non current    
Unearned revenue – government grant 327,675  339,057 
Total 327,675  339,057 

 
C11 Asset revaluation surplus by class 

2016 Land Building Infrastructure  Total 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Balance at 1 July 2015 59,067 3,911 2,845,136 2,908,114 
Revaluation increments / 
(decrements) 30,245 (1,843) (706,404) (678,002) 
Asset revaluation on disposal (1,303) (667) (4,733) (6,703) 
Deferred tax liabilities (8,683) 753 213,342 205,412 
Balance at 30 June 2016 79,326 2,154 2,347,341 2,428,821 

 

2015 Land Building Infrastructure  Total 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Balance at 1 July 2014 59,067 4,253 2,720,988 2,784,308 
Revaluation increments - - 177,354 177,354 
Asset revaluation on disposal - (489) - (489) 
Deferred tax liabilities - 147 (53,206) (53,059) 
Balance at 30 June 2015 59,067 3,911 2,845,136 2,908,114 

 
The asset revaluation surplus represents the net effect of upwards and downwards revaluation of assets 
to fair value.
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D1 Fair value measurement  
 
D1-1 Accounting policies and basis for fair value measurement 
A number of the Entity’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for 
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.   
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. 
exit price) regardless of whether the price is directly derived from observable inputs or estimated using 
another valuation technique.  
Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the 
assets/liabilities being valued. Observable inputs used by the Entity include, but are not limited to, 
published sales data for land, general office buildings and residential houses.  
Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available publicly, but are 
relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued. Significant unobservable inputs used 
by the Entity include, but are not limited to, subjective adjustments made to observable data to take 
account of the characteristics of the Entity assets/liabilities, internal records of recent construction costs 
(and/or estimates of such costs) for assets’ characteristics/functionality, and assessments of physical 
condition and remaining useful life. Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and 
reliable observable inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities. 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use.  
All assets and liabilities of the Entity for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial 
statements are categorised within the following fair value hierarchy, based on the data and assumptions 
used in the most recent specific appraisals: 

� Level 1 – represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in 
active markets for identical assets and liabilities; 

� Level 2 – represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other 
than quoted prices included within level 1) that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and  

� Level 3 – represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable 
inputs. 

Except for cash and cash equivalents, none of the Entity’s valuations of assets or liabilities are eligible for 
categorisation into level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers of assets between fair value 
hierarchy levels during the period. 
Property, plant and equipment 
The fair value of land, buildings and infrastructure is measured as follows: 

� where there is an active and liquid market for assets similar in type and condition, the fair value 
of an asset is its price in that market; and 

� where there is no market price for the assets, fair value is either the depreciated replacement 
cost or the net present value of the cash flows from the asset.  

More specific fair value information about the Entity’s Property, Plant and Equipment is outlined in Note 
C4. 
 

SECTION 4 
NOTES ABOUT RISK AND OTHER ACCOUNTING UNCERTAINTIES 
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D1 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
D1-2 Categorisation of fair values  

 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

$000 $000 $000 

Land  528,930  528,930 

Building  11,573  11,573 

Infrastructure  10,493,213 10,493,213 

 
The Entity recognises any evident transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the 
reporting period during which the change has occurred. 

 
D1-3 Level 3 significant valuation inputs and relationship to fair value 
The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs 
used in recurring level 3 fair value measurements.  

Fair value 
at 30 June 

2016 
$M 

Unobservable 
inputs 

Nature and range of inputs Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair value 

$11,267 Revenue 
forecast 

Revenue cash flows for the financial year 2017 to (and 
including) financial year 2028 are based on the current 
QCA bulk water price path to 2019, and the estimated 
QCA bulk water price path from 2020 to 2028. The QCA 
bulk water price path has been determined using a 
building block approach.    
Demand forecast for physical sales projections have 
been forecast using a medium growth scenario.  

A higher allowed 
rate of return 
increases the fair 
value. 
A higher demand 
forecast increases 
the fair value.  

Operating 
Expenditure 

Operating expenditures are based on the corporate plans 
of management reflecting the expenditure required to 
operate and maintain the assets.  

A lower operating 
expenditure 
increases the fair 
value. 

Capital 
Expenditure 

Future capital expenditure required to ensure the security 
and reliability are based on South East Queensland’s 
Water Security Program 2015-2045. 

A lower future 
capital expenditure 
increases the fair 
value. 

Terminal value  Terminal value is based on the QCA accepted regulated 
asset base and a terminal value multiple of 1.00.  

A higher terminal 
value and multiple 
increases the fair 
value. 

Weighted 
Average Cost of 
Capital (WACC) 
discount rate 

A nominal vanilla WACC of 5.8% (with a range of 5.60% - 
6.20%) has been employed in the valuation. The WACC 
discount rate has been determined by management 
based on a long-term view of the market cost of capital. 

The higher the 
nominal vanilla 
WACC, the lower 
the fair value. 
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D1 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
D1-4 Fair value disclosures for financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost 
The Entity does not recognise any financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value, except for cash and 
cash equivalents. 
The fair value of trade and other receivables and payables is assumed to approximate the value of the 
original transaction, less any allowance for impairment. 
The fair value of borrowings which is determined for disclosure purposes is notified by QTC and 
calculated using discounted cash flow analysis and the effective interest rate. The fair value is determined 
by reference to published price quotations in an active market and reflects the value of the debt if the 
Entity repaid it in full at balance date. As it is the intention of the Entity to hold its borrowing for their full 
term, no adjustment provision is made in these accounts.   

2016  Carrying amount  Fair value 
  $000  $000 
QTC borrowings - loans  9,420,402  11,521,789 
Total  9,420,402  11,521,789 

 

2015 Carrying amount  Fair value 
 $000  $000 
QTC borrowings - loans 9,305,784  10,863,074 
Total 9,305,784  10,863,074 
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D1 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
D1-5 Impairment testing for Cash Generating Unit (CGU) 
The Entity has a single CGU for the purposes of impairment testing.  
An annual assessment on whether there is any indication that the CGU may be impaired has been 
performed, which includes the following areas: 

� market value of the asset; 
� negative change in technology, market, economic conditions, or law; 
� Weighted Average Cost of Capital; 
� obsolescence or physical damage to the asset; and 
� asset idleness, discontinued or restructure operations. 

 
The Board has assessed that there is no impairment at 30 June 2016. 
 
D2 Financial risk disclosures  
 
D2-1  Categorisation of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the 
Entity becomes party to the contractual provision of the financial instrument. The Entity has the following 
categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:    

  2016  2015 
Category Note $000  $000 
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents C1 133,309  87,079 
Trade and other receivables C2 121,526  111,261 
Total  254,835  198,340 

     
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables C6 45,732  46,417 
Other financial liabilities – QTC  
borrowing C8 9,420,402  9,305,784 
Total  9,466,134  9,352,201 
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D2 Financial risk disclosures (continued) 
 
D2-2 Financial risk management 
The Entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit risk, liquidity risk, and interest 
rate risk. Exposure to financial risks is managed in accordance with the Entity’s approved policies on 
financial risk management.  These policies focus on managing the volatility of financial markets and seek 
to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Entity.  The Entity measures risk 
exposure using a variety of methods as follows: 

Risk Exposure Measurement Method 

Credit risk Ageing analysis 

Liquidity risk Maturity analysis 

Market risk – interest rate Sensitivity analysis 

 
Credit risk exposure 
Credit risk exposure refers to the situation where the Entity may incur a financial loss as a result of 
another party to a financial instrument failing to discharge their obligations.  
The Entity is exposed to credit risk through its customers, investments with QTC and deposits held with 
banks. The Entity has a concentration of credit risk from receivables due from its customers. The QTC 
cash fund is an asset management portfolio that invests with a wide variety of high credit rating 
counterparts. Deposits are capital guaranteed.  Other investments are held with highly rated and 
regulated financial institutions and whilst not capital guaranteed the likelihood of a credit failure is 
considered remote. 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets is the gross amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment. The carrying 
amount of receivables represents the maximum exposure to credit risk (refer to Note C2). 
No collateral is held as security and no credit enhancements relate to financial assets held by the Entity. 
The following table represents the Entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk based on contractual 
amounts net of any allowances: 
 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Category      
Financial liabilities     
Guarantee D3 347  575 
Total  347  575 
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D2 Financial risk disclosures (continued) 
 
D2-2 Financial risk management (continued) 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk refers to the situation where the Entity may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities.  The Entity is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal 
course of business and borrowings from the QTC for asset acquisitions and capital works.  The Entity 
manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash deposits and undrawn facilities, both 
short and long term, to cater for unexpected volatility in cash flows. 
77% (2015: 78%) of QTC borrowings are interest only with no fixed repayment date for the principal 
component. For the purposes of producing the maturity analysis, only the principal amount has been 
allocated to the over five years time band.  
The following tables set out the liquidity risk of financial liabilities held by the Entity. It represents the 
contractual maturity of financial liabilities, calculated based on cash flows relating to the repayment of the 
principal amount outstanding at balance date. 

2016 Payable in Total 
Financial liabilities <1 year 1-5 years >5 years  

 $000 $000 $000 $000 
QTC borrowings - loans 548,640 2,196,069 9,836,879 12,581,588 
Trade and other payables 45,623 109 - 45,732 
Total 594,263 2,196,178 9,836,879 12,627,320 

  
2015 Payable in Total 

Financial liabilities <1 year 1-5 years >5 years  
 $000 $000 $000 $000 

QTC borrowings - loans 438,225 1,749,302 10,166,002 12,353,529 
Trade and other payables 46,174 243 - 46,417 
Total 484,399 1,749,545 10,166,002 12,399,946 
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D2 Financial risk disclosures (continued) 
 
D2-2 Financial risk management (continued) 
Market risk - interest rate  
The Entity does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to commodity price ranges.  
The Entity is exposed to interest rate risk through its borrowings from QTC and cash deposited in interest 
bearing accounts.  The risk in borrowing is effectively managed through QTC’s capacity to issue 
securities with variable terms allowing an appropriate duration for debt. The Entity manages its loan 
portfolio by setting, monitoring and adjusting the terms and duration as allowed under its commercial 
financing contract with QTC.  
Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
The following sensitivity analysis depicts the outcome to profit and loss if interest rates change by +/- 1% 
from the year-end rates applicable to the Entity’s financial assets and liabilities. The calculations assume 
that the rate would be held constant over the next financial year, with the change occurring at the 
beginning of that year. This is mainly attributable to the Entity’s exposure to variable interest rates on its 
borrowings from QTC.  

2016  - 1% + 1% 
 Net carrying 

amounts Profit Equity Profit Equity 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Cash and cash equivalents 133,309 (1,333) (1,333) 1,333 1,333 
QTC borrowings - loans 9,420,402 4,305 4,305 (3,851) (3,851) 
Overall effect on profit and equity  2,972 2,972 (2,518) (2,518) 
 

2015  - 1% + 1% 
 Net carrying 

amounts Profit Equity Profit Equity 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Cash and cash equivalents 87,079 (871) (871) 871 871 
QTC borrowings - loans 9,305,784 4,097 4,097 (3,657) (3,657) 
Overall effect on profit and equity  3,226 3,226 (2,786) (2,786) 
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D2 Financial risk disclosures (continued) 
 
D2-3  Capital management  
The Entity must give the responsible Ministers an estimate of its net profit for the year, and a 
recommendation on the amount of annual return to be paid.  The recommendation is to be provided to 
Ministers between 1 and 15 May prior to the end of the financial year.  Before the end of the financial 
year, the responsible Ministers must either approve the recommendation or direct the Entity to pay 
another amount (though not more than the estimated net profit previously advised) as decided under 
section 53 of the South East Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007. The return must be paid within 
6 months after the end of the financial year.  
Annual return payable in 2016 is $0 (2015: $0). 

  2016  2015 
 Note $000  $000 
Total borrowings  C8 9,420,402  9,305,784 
Total assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents)  11,405,318  12,301,983 
Gearing ratio  83%  76% 

 
D3  Contingencies 
Insurance claims 
The Entity has no outstanding insurance claim as at 30 June 2016. 
   
Financial Guarantees 
A guarantee is provided to Stanwell Corporation Limited, in respect of the operation and maintenance 
agreement of the Wivenhoe Hydro Plant. The amount guaranteed was $200,000 (2015: $200,000).  
Guarantees were provided in relation to the lease premises at 200 Creek Street, Brisbane. The amount 
guaranteed was $147,406 (2015: $375,277).  
No defaults have occurred and the Entity does not expect that the guarantee will be called upon. The 
guarantees are not recognised on the Statement of Financial Position as the probability of default is 
remote. 
As financial guarantee contracts are measured in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the Entity has disclosed the details of the guarantee in this note, in 
addition to Note D2-2 Financial Instruments for full transparency purposes. 
 
Litigation in progress 
As at 30 June 2016, the following cases were filed in the courts naming the Entity as defendant: 

� three individual submissions of notice of claim for personal injury in respect of the January 2011 
flood; 

� an individual submission of a notice of claim under the Civil Proceedings Act in respect of a 
commercial contract matter; and 

� a class action claim relating to the January 2011 South East Queensland flood was filed on 8 
July 2014. As at 30 June 2016. The Entity filed a defence on 7 September 2015. A trial on first 
stage liability issues has been set down for hearing commencing on 3 October 2017 in the 
Supreme Court of New South Wales. At this stage in the proceedings no quantum can be 
established. 
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D4 Capital commitments 
 
Capital expenditure commitments 
Capital expenditure commitments inclusive of non-recoverable GST input tax credits if any, contracted for 
at reporting date but not recognised in the accounts are as follows: 
 

 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Within one year 66,425  46,325 
One year and no later than five years 1,403  - 
More than five years -  - 
Total 67,828  46,325 

 
D5 Leases 
 
D5-1 Finance leases 
Leases in which the Entity assumes all of the risk and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. As a statutory body, the Entity cannot enter into a finance lease without the approval of the 
Queensland Treasurer. The Entity did not have any finance leases during the reporting period.  
 
D5-2 Operating leases 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases and are not recognised in the Entity’s Statement of Financial Position. 
Incentives received on entering into operating leases are recognised as liabilities. Operating lease 
payments and reduction of the incentive liabilities are expensed in the period incurred and are 
representative of the pattern of benefits derived over the lease term.  
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D5 Operating leases (continued) 
 
Leases as lessee 
Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases at reporting date are inclusive of non-recoverable 
GST input tax credit if any and are payable as follows: 

 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Less than one year 3,306  3,461 
Between one and five years 12,952  12,857 
More than five years 25,399  30,280 
Total 41,657  46,598 
The Entity leases a number of office accommodations under operating leases. Lease payments are 
generally fixed, but with inflation escalation clauses on which contingent rentals are determined. During 
the year an amount of $3.1M (2015: $3.6M) was recognised as an expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in respect of operating leases. 
 
Leases as lessor 
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are receivable as follows: 

 2016  2015 
 $000  $000 
Less than one year 433  457 
Between one and five years 889  995 
More than five years 1,507  1,532 
Total 2,829  2,984 
The Entity leases out its rental properties, office space, grazing land and recreation facilities.  The rent for 
rental properties that is paid to the Entity is adjusted to market rent at regular intervals. Other lease 
payments are generally fixed, but with inflation escalation clauses on which contingent rentals are 
determined. 
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D6 Future impact of accounting standards not yet effective 
 
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the expected impacts of new or amended Australian 
Accounting Standards issued but with future commencement dates are set out below: 
 
AASB 124 - Related Party Disclosures 
From reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016, the Entity will need to comply with the 
requirements of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. That accounting standard requires a range of 
disclosures about the remuneration of key management personnel, transactions with related 
parties/entities, and relationships between parent and controlled entities. The Entity already discloses 
information about the remuneration expenses for key management personnel (refer to Note E1) in 
compliance with requirements from Queensland Treasury. Therefore, the most significant implications of 
AASB 124 for the Entity’s financial statements will be the disclosures to be made about transactions with 
related parties, including transactions with key management personnel or close members of their families.  
 
AASB 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 This Standard will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and 
contains much more detailed requirements for the accounting for certain types of revenue from 
customers. Depending on the specific contractual terms, the new requirements may potentially result in a 
change to the timing of revenue from sales of the Entity’s good and services, such that some revenue 
may need to be deferred to a later reporting to the extent that the Entity has received cash but not met its 
associated obligations (such amounts would be reported as a liability (unearned revenue) in the 
meantime). The Entity is yet to complete its analysis of current arrangements for sale of its goods and 
services, but at this stage does not expect a significant impact on its present accounting practices.  
 
AASB 16 Leases 
This standard will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. While 
the Entity has yet to undertake a detailed assessment of the impact of the new standard, the changes 
introduced by this standard are likely to increase both assets and liabilities, change income statement and 
cash flow presentation and impact financial ratios.  The distinction between operating and finance leases 
is removed, effectively bringing all leases into the statement of financial position, with the exception of 
short term leases (less than 12 months) and leases of low value assets.  Lease rental expense will be 
replaced by depreciation and interest expense resulting in a front loaded lease expense.  A choice of 
either a full retrospective approach or a modified retrospective approach is available to transition to the 
new standard with the selected approach to be applied to the entire lease portfolio. 
 
AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 107 
From reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2017, this standard amends AASB 107 Statement of 
Cash Flows and requires entities preparing financial statements in accordance with Tier 1 reporting 
requirements to provide additional disclosure that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. These disclosures will include both cash flows and 
non-cash changes between the opening and closing balance of the relevant liabilities and be disclosed by 
way of a reconciliation or roll forward as part of the notes to the statement of cash flows. The 
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure in the financial statements will be unaffected. 
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D6 Future impact of accounting standards not yet effective (continued) 
 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)  
These Standards will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The 
main impacts of these standards on the Entity are that they will change the requirements for the 
classification, measurement, impairment and disclosures associated with the Entity’s financial assets. 
AASB 9 will introduce different criteria for whether financial assets can be measured at amortised cost or 
fair value.  
The Entity has commenced reviewing the measurement of its financial assets against the new AASB 9 
classification and measurement requirements. However, as the classification of financial assets at the 
date of initial application of AASB 9 will depend on the facts and circumstances existing at that date, the 
Entity’s conclusion will not be confirmed until closer to that time. At this stage, and assuming no change in 
the types of transactions the Entity enters into, all of the Entity’s financial assets are expected to be 
required to be measured at fair value (instead of the measurement classifications presently used in Note 
D2). In the case of the Entity’s current receivables, as they are short-term in nature, the carrying amount 
is expected to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. Changes in the fair value of those assets will 
be reflected in the Entity’s operating result. 
Other impact of AASB 9 relates to calculating Impairment losses for the Entity’s receivables. Assuming no 
substantial change in the nature of the Entity’s receivables, as they don’t include a significant financing 
component, impairment losses will be determined according to the amount of lifetime expected credit 
losses. On initial adoption of AASB 9, the Entity will need to determine the expected credit losses for its 
receivables by comparing the credit risk at that time to the credit risk that existed when those receivables 
were initially recognised.  
The Entity will not need to restate comparative figures for financial instruments on adopting AASB 9 as 
from 2018-19. However, changed disclosure requirements will apply from that time. A number of one-off 
disclosures will be required in the 2018-19 financial statements to explain the impact of adopting AASB 9. 
Assuming no change in the types of financial instruments that the Entity enters into, the most likely 
ongoing disclosure impacts are expected to relate to the credit risk of financial assets subject to 
impairment, and investments in unquoted equity instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income and derecognition of these items.   
All other Australian accounting standards and interpretations with future commencement dates are either 
not applicable to the Entity’s activities, or have no material impact on the Entity. 
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E1 Key management personnel disclosures 
 
The following details for key management personnel include those positions that had authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Entity during 2015-16. Further 
information on these positions can be found in the body of the Annual Report under the section relating to 
Governance.  
E1-1 Board Members and remuneration 
Board members’ fees include fees paid for membership of the Audit and Risk Committee and the 
Investment and Procurement Committee. The Board members who were paid, or were due to be paid 
directly or indirectly from the Entity were: 

 2016  2015 
 Salary and 

Fees 
Superannuation 

Contribution  
Salary and 

Fees 
Superannuation 

Contribution 
 $ $  $ $ 
Dan Hunt 78,000 7,410  - - 
Michael Arnett 53,000 5,035  53,000 5,035 
Shane McGrath 49,500 4,703  26,625 2,529 
Samantha Pidgeon 36,750 3,491  - - 
Leith Boully 12,375 1,145  49,500 4,579 
Jenny Parker 26,500 2,517  53,000 5,044 
Noel Faulkner 26,125 2,482  107,500 10,212 
Warren Traves - -  4,125 401 
Total 282,250 26,783  293,750 27,800 

D Hunt appointed as Member of the Board on 1 October 2015. 

M Arnett appointed as Member of the Board on 1 January 2013. 

S McGrath appointed as Member of the Board on 18 December 2014. 

S Pidgeon appointed as Member of the Board on 1 October 2015. 

L Boully appointed as Member of the Board on 1 October 2009, appointment ended on 1 October 2015. 

J Parker appointed as Member of the Board on 1 January 2013, appointment ended on 31 December 2015. 

N Faulkner appointed as Member of the Board on 1 January 2013, appointment ended on 1 October 2015. 

W Traves appointed as Member of the Board on 1 January 2013, appointment ended on 31 July 2014.  

         SECTION 5 
OTHER INFORMATION 
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E1 Key management personnel disclosures (continued) 
 
E1-2 Key executive management personnel  

Position Responsibilities 

Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO) 

The CEO is responsible for the efficient, effective and economic 
administration of the Entity. 

Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO) 

The CFO is responsible for finance, treasury management, financial 
modelling, procurement, fleet, property and facilities management. 

General Manager 
Operations  

The General Manager Operations is responsible for the dam, catchment, 
water treatment operations and asset maintenance, flood operations and 
emergency management, manufactured water contracts and reporting, 
water transport network operations, water quality, environment, recreation 
and catchment services. 

General Manager 
Asset Portfolio 

Development and 
Delivery 

The General Manager Asset Portfolio Development and Delivery is 
responsible for information technology, water quality monitoring, 
environment management, asset capability and sustainability, 
infrastructure asset planning and asset investment. 

General Manager 
Strategy, People and 

Safety 

The General Manager Strategy, People and Safety is responsible for 
enterprise strategy, governance and risk, brand management, customer 
service and stakeholder engagement, human resource management, 
safety strategy and policy, safety management systems and business 
improvement. 

General Manager 
Water Supply 

Strategy and Policy 

The General Manager Water Supply Strategy and Policy is responsible for 
water supply strategy and policy, asset portfolio master planning, asset 
investment governance, economic regulation, research, science and  
technology, catchment strategy and community engagement. 

General Counsel and 
Company Secretary 

The General Counsel is responsible for company secretariat, insurance 
and legal counsel. 
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E1 Key management personnel disclosures (continued) 
 
E1-3 Key executive management remuneration policies 
Remuneration policy for the Entity’s key executive management is managed by the Board under the 
direction set by the Responsible Ministers as provided for under the State Water Authorities - Governance 
Arrangements for Chief and Senior Executives. The remuneration and other terms of employment for the 
key executive management personnel are specified in employment contracts. The contracts provide for 
the provision of performance related cash bonuses and other benefits including car parking. 
Remuneration expenses for key executive management personnel comprise the following components: 

� short term employee expenses which include: 
! salary, allowances and leave entitlements earned and expensed for the entire year, or 

for the part of the year during which the employee was a key management person;  
! performance payments recognised as an expense during the year; and  
! non-monetary benefits - consisting of provision of car parking with fringe benefits tax 

applicable to the benefit. 
� long term employee expenses include amount expensed in respect of long service leave 

entitlements earned; 
� post employee expenses include amounts expensed in respect of employer superannuation 

obligations; 
� termination benefits are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of 

employment provide only for notice periods or payment in lieu of notice on termination, 
regardless of the reason for termination. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Management Certificate 

for the year ended 30 June 2016 
 

E1 Key management personnel disclosures (continued) 
 
E1-5 Performance payments 
Performance bonuses may be paid or payable annually depending upon satisfaction of key performance 
criteria. The calculation of the cash performance bonuses is as per the Entity’s Remuneration Policy.  
Performance payments of key executive management are capped at 15% of total fixed remuneration. The 
amounts payable are tied to the achievement of pre-determined Entity and individual performance targets 
as approved by the Board. 
The aggregate amount of performance payments made during the financial year with respect to the 
previous financial year was $76,409 (2015: $141,634). 
The performance bonus was paid on 11 September 2015 (2015: 12 September 2014).   
The cash performance bonuses for the 2015-16 year are yet to be determined by the Board.  
 
E2 Related parties  
 
Board members’ transactions  
During the period, Dan Hunt was a director of the Entity’s subsidiary, Australian Water Recycling Centre 
of Excellence Limited (AWRCoE).  
During the period, while as a Board member, Leith Boully was a director of the Entity’s subsidiary 
AWRCoE, refer to Note A3. Ms Boully’s appointment as a Board member (and as an AWRCoE Director) 
ended on 1 October 2015. 
Jenny Parker is the Oceania Advisory Government & Public Sector Leader – Health, Human Service & 
Education for Ernst & Young (Queensland). During the year, EY provided professional and financial 
advisory services to the Entity, total amount paid $757,286 (2015: $401,574), and commitment at 
reporting date is $342,527. Ms Parker had no involvement in the provision of these services. Ms Parker’s 
appointment as a Board member ended on 31 December 2015. In March 2016, the Board engaged Ms 
Parker as a consultant. After that time, Ms Parker attended the Audit and Risk Committee meetings in 
that capacity.  Cost incurred for this engagement is $6,600. 

 
Transactions and outstanding balance with the State of Queensland controlled entities  
The Entity is controlled by the Queensland Government and as a result there are a significant number of 
interactions with other entities controlled by the same parent. The Entity procures services from a number 
of Queensland Government departments on normal commercial terms. 
The following entities have the same controlling entity as Seqwater and therefore are considered to be 
related parties. Transactions with these entities during the year are: 

• QTC, a Queensland Government owned corporation, provided loan debt funding to the Entity 
under normal commercial terms and conditions, refer to Note C8. 

• Queensland Competition Authority (QCA) - investigation and recommendation on the price 
practices as per the Minister’s Referral Notice, total amount paid $489,649 (2015: $711,700) 
and commitment at reporting date is $0;  

• Department of State Development, Infrastructure & Planning - management of acquisition of 
land and easements along pipeline corridor, total amount paid $5,347,341 (2015: $7,706,419) 
and commitment at reporting date is $1,956,907; and   

• Department of Housing and Public Works – Lease of premise, total amount paid $3,081,682 
(2015: $3,737,749), and commitment at reporting date is $3,562,997. 

 
Transactions with subsidiary 
The Entity provides administrative and support services, at no cost to AWRCoE pursuant to a service 
level agreement (refer to Note A3). 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Management Certificate 

for the year ended 30 June 2016 
 

57 
 

E3 First year application of new accounting standards or change in accounting policy 
 
Changes in accounting policy  
The Entity did not change any of its accounting policies during 2015-16. 
 
Accounting standards early adopted for 2015-16 
The Entity has early adopted AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 as required by Queensland Treasury.  
The amendments arising from this standard seek to improve financial reporting flexibility as to the 
ordering of notes, the identification and location of significant accounting policies and the presentation of 
sub-totals, and provide clarity on aggregating line items. It also emphasises only including material 
disclosures in the notes. The Entity has applied this flexibility in preparing the 2015-16 financial 
statements, including co-locating significant accounting policies with the related breakdowns of financial 
statement figures in the notes. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Management Certificate 

for the year ended 30 June 2016 
 

58 
 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to section 62(1) of the Financial 
Accountability Act 2009 (the Act), relevant sections of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 
2009 and other prescribed requirements. In accordance with section 62(1)(b) of the Act we certify that in our 
opinion: 

a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all 
material aspects;  

b) the statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with prescribed 
accounting standards, of the transactions of Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2016 and of the financial position at the end of that year; 

c) these assertions are based on an appropriate system of internal controls and risk management 
processes being effective, in all material respects, with respect to financial reporting throughout the 
reporting period. 

 
 
 
 
 

Dan Hunt Jim Pruss David Delaporte 

Chairman Acting Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

   

   

   

Signature Signature Signature 

   

Date Date Date 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Board of the Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 

Report on the Financial Report 

I have audited the accompanying financial report of the Queensland Bulk Water Supply 
Authority, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016, the statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, notes to the financial statements including significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information, and certificates given by the Chairman, Acting Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 

The Board's Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with prescribed accounting requirements identified in the Financial 
Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009, 
including compliance with Australian Accounting Standards. The Board's responsibility also 
includes such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

My responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on the audit. The audit 
was conducted in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards, 
which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require compliance 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit is planned 
and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control, 
other than in expressing an opinion on compliance with prescribed requirements. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness·of accounting estimates made by the Board, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report including any mandatory financial reporting requirements 
approved by the Treasurer for application in Queensland. 

I believe thatthe audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my audit opinion. 
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APMP Asset Portfolio Master Plan

AWRCE  Australian Water Recycling Centre of Excellence 
Limited

CRG Community Reference Group

DEWS  Department of Energy and Water Supply

eDRMS electronic Document and Records Management 
System

EOC Emergency Operations Centre

EBA  Enterprising Bargaining Agreement

EBIT  Earnings Before Interest and Tax

EMS  Environmental Management System

ERP Emergency Response Plan

GIS Geospatial Information Systems 

ICT  Information Communication Technology

KPI  Key Performance Indicator

LDMG Local Disaster Management Group

LTI  Lost Time Injury

LTIFR Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate

NPI Northern Pipeline Interconnector

PASS Permit Access Safety System

QAO Queensland Audit Office

QCA  Queensland Competition Authority

QTC  Queensland Treasury Corporation

QUT Queensland University of Technology

QUU Queensland Urban Utilities

RFRT Reduced Frequency Run Time

SCMC  Seqwater Collaborative Maintenance Contract

STEM Science, Technology, Engineering and 
Mathematics

UCDD Up the Creek, Down the Drain

WSAA Water Services Association of Australia

WCRWS Western Corridor Recycled Water Scheme

WHSMS Workplace Health and Safety Management 
System

WSP  Water Security Program

WSPP  Water Service Providers Partnership

WTP  Water Treatment Plant

Glossary

PLACEHOLDER
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Summary of requirement Basis for 
requirement

Annual report page 
reference

Letter of compliance A letter of compliance from the accountable 
officer or statutory body to the relevant Minister/s

ARRs – section 8 1

Accessibility • Table of contents
• Glossary

ARRs – section 10.1 3 
110

• Public availability ARRs – section 10.2 2
• Interpreter service statement Queensland 

Government Language 
Services Policy

ARRs – section 10.3

2

• Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968
ARRs – section 10.4

2

• Information Licensing QGEA – Information 
Licensing 
ARRs – section 10.5

2

General information • Introductory Information ARRs – section 11.1 9–11
• Agency role and main functions ARRs – section 11.2 4–5
• Operating environment ARRs – section 11.3 7–8

Non-financial performance • Government’s objectives for the community ARRs – section 12.1 11, 21, 30, 33-34, 36
• Other whole of government plans / specific 

initiatives
ARRs – section 12.2 29

• Agency objectives and performance 
indicators

ARRs – section 12.3 15–20 

• Agency service areas and service standards ARRs – section 12.4 15–20 
Financial performance • Summary of financial performance ARRs – section 13.1 49-50
Governance – 
management and structure

• Organisational structure ARRs – section 14.1 46
• Executive management ARRs – section 14.2 47-48
• Government bodies (statutory bodies and 

other entities)
ARRs – section 14.3 N/A

• Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics 
Act 1994
ARRs – section 14.4

N/A

• Queensland public service values ARRs – section 14.5 7, 10, 21-22, 25-26, 29, 
35, 37

Checklist

Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies  
compliance checklist
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Governance – risk 
management and 
accountability

• Risk management ARRs – section 15.1 43-44
• Audit committee ARRs – section 15.2 41-42
• Internal audit ARRs – section 15.3 44-45
• External scrutiny ARRs – section 15.4 10, 26-27, 44
• Information systems and recordkeeping ARRs – section 15.5 45

Governance – human 
resources

• Workforce planning and performance ARRs – section 16.1 23

• Early retirement, redundancy and 
retrenchment

Directive No.11/12 
Early Retirement, 
Redundancy and 
Retrenchment

ARRs – section 16.2

N/A

Open data • Consultancies ARRs – section 17
ARRs – section 34.1

45

• Overseas travel ARRs – section 17
ARRs – section 34.2

45

• Queensland Language Services Policy ARRs – section 17
ARRs – section 34.3

45

Financial statements • Certification of financial statements FAA – section 62
FPMS – sections 42, 
43 and 50
ARRs – section 18.1

107

Independent Auditor’s Report FAA – section 62
FPMS – section 50
ARRs – section 18.2

108-109

FAA Financial Accountability Act 2009
FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009
ARRs Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies
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